

## SATU OLKKOLA

Antimicrobial Resistance and Its Mechanisms among *Campylobacter coli* and *Campylobacter upsaliensis* with a Special Focus on Streptomycin



DEPARTMENT OF FOOD HYGIENE AND ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH FACULTY OF VETERINARY MEDICINE DOCTORAL PROGRAMME IN FOOD CHAIN AND HEALTH UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI Department of Food Hygiene and Environmental Health Faculty of Veterinary Medicine University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

# Antimicrobial Resistance and Its Mechanisms among Campylobacter coli and Campylobacter upsaliensis with a Special Focus on Streptomycin

SATU OLKKOLA

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in Walter sali, Agnes Sjöberginkatu 2, Helsinki on 3rd of June 2016, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2016

#### Supervising professors

Marja-Liisa Hänninen, DVM, PhD, Emerita Professor Maria Fredriksson-Ahomaa, DVM, PhD, Professor Department of Food Hygiene and Environmental Health Faculty of Veterinary Medicine University of Helsinki

#### Supervised by

Marja-Liisa Hänninen, DVM, PhD, Emerita Professor Mirko Rossi, DVM, PhD, Assistant Professor Heidi Hyytiäinen, MSc, PhD Department of Food Hygiene and Environmental Health Faculty of Veterinary Medicine University of Helsinki

#### Reviewed by

Mati Roasto, DVM, PhD, Associate Professor Department of Food Hygiene Institute of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Sciences Estonian University of Life Sciences

Mindaugas Malakauskas, DVM, MSc, PhD Department of Food Safety and Quality Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Veterinary Academy Lithuanian University of Health Sciences

#### Opponent

Friederike Hilbert, DVM, PhD, Dipl. ECVPH, Associate Professor Department for Farm Animals and Veterinary Public Health Institute of Meat Hygiene, Meat Technology and Food Science University of Veterinary Medicine Vienna

Layout: Tinde Päivärinta/PSWFolders Oy

Dissertationes Schola Doctoralis Scientiae Circumiectalis, Alimentariae, Biologicae ISSN 2342-5423 ISBN 978-951-51-2141-7 (Paperback) ISSN 2342-5431 ISBN 978-951-51-2142-4 (PDF) Hansaprint, Vantaa, Finland, 2015

"He who asks is a fool for five minutes but he who doesn't ask, remains a fool forever." A Chinese proverb

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Ał	ostrac	t	
Ac	know	ledgements	
Li	st of o	original publications	
Ał	obrevi	ations	
1	Intro	oduction	13
2	Review of the literature		
	2.1	Historical highlights of Campylobacter	14
	2.2	The genus Campylobacter	14
	2.3	Human Campylobacter infections and their reservoirs	16
	2.4	Campylobacter genome	16
	2.5	Antimicrobial agents	17
		2.5.1 Aminoglycosides	18
		2.5.1.1 Streptomycin	18
		2.5.2 Quinolones	19
		2.5.3 Macrolides	21
	2.6	Antimicrobial consumption and surveillance	22
	2.7	Antimicrobial resistance monitoring and susceptibility testing	23
	2.8	Antimicrobial resistance prevalence and mechanisms	24
		2.8.1 Resistance to aminoglycosides	26
		2.8.1.1 Aminoglycoside resistance in <i>Campylobacter</i> spp	27
		2.8.2 Resistance to quinolones	29
		2.8.3 Resistance to macrolides	29
	2.9	Whole-genome sequencing and applications in resistance research	30
		2.9.1 Sequencing technologies, assembly and annotation	30
		2.9.2 Whole-genome sequencing approach in antimicrobial resistance research	31
3	Aim	s of the study	33
4	Mate	erials and methods	34
	4.1	Antimicrobial treatments and sampling scheme of animals	34
		4.1.1 Pigs	34
		4.1.2 Dogs	34
	4.2	Isolation and cultivation of Campylobacter spp. and E. coli	34
	4.3	Antimicrobial susceptibility testing	35
	4.4	Selection of resistant variants by exposure to STR and ERY and	
		efflux pump inhibition assay	36
	4.5	DNA extraction, PCR, sequencing and sequence analysis of PCR products	36
	4.6	RFLP-PFGE typing	39
	4.7	Whole-genome sequencing, assembly and annotation	39
	4.8	Screening, evolutionary analysis and enzyme modelling of	
		Campylobacter ant-like gene A	39
	4.9	Expression of <i>ant</i> -like genes in <i>E. coli</i> and construction of 47.4∆ant(A)::CAT mutant	40
	4.10	Natural transformation assays	40
	4.11	Statistical analyses	42

Results			
5.1 Characterization of antimicrobial resistance of porcine C. coli (I-III)			
	5.1.1 STR resistance-associated mutations in <i>rpsL</i> (I-III)		
	5.1.2 Other STR resistance-associated mutations studied in C. coli (I, III)		
	5.1.3 Mechanism and occurrence of intermediate STR resistance (III)		
	5.1.3.1 Occurrence and location of ant-like genes A and B 47		
5.1.3.2 Evolutionary analysis of <i>ant</i> -like gene A and enzyme modelling			
5.1.3.3 47.4∆antA::CAT constructs and expression of <i>ant</i> -like genes in <i>E</i> . <i>ca</i>			
5.1.3.4 Natural transformation assays			
	5.1.4 Mutations associated with ERY and CIP resistance (I, II)		
	5.1.5 Associations between STR and ERY resistance (I)		
	5.1.6 Dynamics of STR resistance in C. coli after DANO and		
	tylosin treatments (II, III)		
5.2	Resistance in canine C. upsaliensis and C. jejuni strains (IV)		
	5.2.1 Occurrence of resistance		
	5.2.2 Mutations in STR and quinolone resistant <i>C. upsaliensis</i>		
Disc	cussion		
6.1	STR resistance in <i>C. coli</i> and <i>C. upsaliensis</i>		
	6.1.1 <i>C. coli</i>		
	6.1.2 <i>C. upsaliensis</i>		
6.2	Quinolone resistance mutations in C. coli and C. upsaliensis and		
	ERY resistance mutations in <i>C. coli</i>		
6.3	Associations of STR and ERY resistances in porcine C. coli and dynamics		
	of STR resistance development after DANO and tylosin treatment		
6.4	Occurrence of resistance in canine <i>C. upsaliensis</i> and <i>C. jejuni</i>		
6.4 <b>Con</b>	Occurrence of resistance in canine <i>C. upsaliensis</i> and <i>C. jejuni</i>		
	Resu 5.1 5.2 Disc 6.1 6.2 6.3		

# ABSTRACT

Campylobacteriosis is the most common cause of human bacterial gastroenteritis in the developed world. *Campylobacter* spp. are known to colonize a wide range of land and sea mammals, reptiles and birds. Campylobacteriosis is also a zoonosis, with the most important reservoir considered to be chicken, but *Campylobacter* spp. are also abundantly found in other domestic animals. In particular, *Campylobacter coli* and *C. upsaliensis* are common colonizers of pigs and dogs, respectively.

The most often isolated causative agent from diseased humans is *C. jejuni*, but also *C. coli* and *C. upsaliensis* are known to cause disease, with *C. coli* estimated to cause 5-10% of the human campylobacteriosis cases. The disease is usually self-limiting but antimicrobial treatment is warranted in severe cases, with macrolides and fluoroquinolones being the first and second options, respectively. Intravenous aminoglycosides are indicated in *Campylobacter* bacteraemia.

High rates of fluoroquinolone-resistant *Campylobacter* spp. have emerged in many parts of the world. Also, in several studies, high proportions of streptomycin (STR)-resistant *C. coli* or *C. upsaliensis*, have been found. However, despite recent advances in molecular characterization of the resistance mechanisms, complete understanding of these mechanisms for certain antibiotics remains lacking. Particularly, the mechanisms of STR resistance have been only partially characterized in *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* and completely ignored in *C. upsaliensis*.

The primary aim of this thesis was to investigate the molecular mechanisms of STR resistance in porcine *C. coli* and canine *C. upsaliensis* isolates. We were able to associate high level of STR resistance (MIC>1024 mg/l) in porcine *C. coli* to mutations in the *rpsL* gene, which encodes ribosomal protein S12. In *C. upsaliensis*, a mutation in *rpsL* was also noted in all the intermediateand high-level STR-resistant isolates. Even though STR resistance conferring mutations in *rpsL* codons 43 and 88 have been well documented in *Escherichia coli* and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, they were first time described in *Campylobacter* species in the present study.

In addition to *rpsL* mutations, also other mechanisms were explored to explain the different levels of STR resistance observed in both *C. coli* and *C. upsaliensis*. Using genomics and insertional mutagenesis, a novel STR resistance-conferring gene (*ant*-like gene A) was identified in the intermediately STR-resistant (MIC 128-512 mg/l) *C. coli* isolates. This *ant*-like gene A is located in a genomic region corresponding to the previously described hypervariable region 14 in *C. jejuni*, and we showed that it was naturally transformable to a STR-susceptible *C. coli* recipient. This gene is homologous, albeit at a low level, to other previously described aminoglycoside 6-adenylyltransferase encoding genes, and does not appear to originate from Gram-positive bacterial species. We hypothesize that the *ant*-like gene A could have evolved from a proto-resistance element originally having a different function in *Campylobacter* spp., as we did not find evidence of a recent jump of this gene to *Campylobacter* species.

All highly STR-resistant *C. upsaliensis* isolates had, in addition to the *rpsL* mutation, significant truncation of *rsmG*, encoding a conserved methyltransferase responsible for methylation of the STR binding site in the 500 region of 16S rRNA. Functional deletion of *rsmG* together with changes in the *rpsL* have been associated with a high-level STR-resistant phenotype in other bacterial species, such as *M. tuberculosis, Bacillus subtilis* and *E. coli*, but, before our studies, have not been described in *Campylobacter* species. Altogether these results provided a

significant advance in understanding the mechanisms of STR resistance in *Campylobacter* spp. and will aid in predicting the phenotypic resistance from genome data.

Fluoroquinolone resistance-associated mutations in the DNA gyrase-encoding gene *gyrA* were characterized in *C. coli* from pigs treated with danofloxacin (DANO) and in canine *C. upsaliensis.* The commonly described C257T mutation was found in both species. In *C. coli* this leads to the amino acid change T86I in DNA gyrase and high levels of ciprofloxacin (CIP) resistance, while in *C. upsaliensis* the predicted amino acid change is T86M and only slight increases in CIP MICs but high levels of nalidixic acid resistance were detected. Therefore, DANO does not seem to induce novel mutations in the QRDR region of *C. coli in vivo.* On the other hand, the same mutation appears not to be sufficient to cause a high level of fluoroquinolone resistance in *C. upsaliensis.* 

Macrolide resistance-associated mutations in the 23S rRNA and in the ribosomal proteins L4 and L22 encoding genes were studied in erythromycin (ERY) –susceptible and intermediately and highly resistant *C. coli*. All highly ERY-resistant isolates were found to have the well-characterized A2122G mutation in 23S rRNA, while no resistance-associated mutations were detected in L4 and L22, indicating that the observed intermediate ERY resistance is due to other mechanisms such as the CmeABC efflux pump.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was conducted at the Department of Food Hygiene and Environmental Health, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Helsinki, Finland. Funding was received from the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (grant nos. MMM4491/502/2006 and MMM/776/312/2012), the Centre of Excellence on Microbial Food Safety Research, Academy of Finland (grant no. 118602), the University of Helsinki research grant (in 2014-2016; grant no. 313/51/2013), the Doctoral Programme in Food Chain and Health in the Doctoral School in Environmental, Food and Biological Sciences, the Walter Ehrström Foundation, the Finnish Foundation for Veterinary Research and the Chancellor's Grant of Helsinki University.

My deepest gratitude is owed to my excellent supervisors during the long journey towards a PhD. I thank Professor Emerita Marja-Liisa Hänninen for all the time she spent advising and encouraging me and for her never-ending and contagious enthusiasm for research. It has also been a pleasure to work with Assistant Professor Mirko Rossi with whom I have had the privilege to learn a lot about whole-genome sequencing and related methods. I thank Maria Fredriksson-Ahomaa, PhD, for jumping in as my supervising professor in the final stages of this journey. I also acknowledge Heidi Hyytiäinen, PhD, for supervising when I was just starting my scientific career, and Riikka Laukkanen-Ninjos, PhD, for supervising my licentiate thesis and for sparking my interest in scientific work. Further, I acknowledge the former and present heads of the department, Professors Hannu Korkeala and Mari Nevas, for providing high-standard research facilities and equipment.

Professors Mati Roasto and Mindaugas Malakauskas are warmly thanked for reviewing my thesis and Carol-Ann Pelli, HonBSc, is acknowledged for editing the language.

I am indebted to my colleagues and friends at work for the nice working environment. Special thanks go to Anna-Kaisa Keskinen, Urszula Hirvi and Anneli Luoti for help in the laboratory. I also thank Jari Aho, Heimo Tasanen and Timo Haapanen for technical assistance as well as Johanna Seppälä, Miia Ketoharju and Sanna Ryhänen for help with administrative tasks. I thank Rauni Kivistö, PhD, Anna-Katrin Llarena, PhD, Pekka Juntunen, DVM, Astrid Skarp-de Haan, PhD, Sara Kovanen, MSc, Alejandra Culebro, MSc, Suvi Nykäsenoja, MSc, Anna-Liisa Myllyniemi, PhD, Anna-Mari Heikinheimo, PhD, Joana Revez, PhD, Anna Hielm-Björkman, PhD, Tuija Kantala, DVM, Eveliina Palonen, PhD, Katja Selby, DVM, Minna Päivärinta, DVM, Suvi Joutsen, DVM, Joana Revez, PhD, Elina Viitasaari, DVM, Manuel Gonzalez, PhD, Ji Zhang, PhD, Helmi Heiska, MSc and Johanna Roine, MSc, for their invaluable co-operation, support and encouragement.

Special thanks go to my unconditionally supportive parents and my sister and her two beautiful daughters. My father is my example in that only hard work leads to success. My friends are thanked for always being there for me. Especially Sanna, your never-ending love for our daughter made it possible for me to finish my thesis. Finally, I dedicate this work to my beautiful daughter Lumi, the love of my life and the force that keeps me going.

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications referred in the text by their roman numerals:

- I Olkkola S, Juntunen P, Heiska H, Hyytiäinen H, Hänninen M-L. Mutations in the *rpsL* gene are involved in streptomycin resistance in *Campylobacter coli*. Microb. Drug Res. 2010, 16(2):105–110.
- II Juntunen P, Olkkola S, Hänninen M-L. Longitudinal on-farm study of the development of antimicrobial resistance in *Campylobacter coli* from pigs before and after danofloxacin and tylosin treatments. Vet Microbiol. 2011, 150(3-4):322-30. (Shared first authorship w/ Juntunen P. Data on streptomycin resistance will be published as supplemental material in study III).
- III Olkkola S, Culebroe A, Juntunen P, Hänninen ML, Rossi M. Functional genomics in *Campylobacter coli* identified a novel streptomycin resistance gene located in a hypervariable genomic region. Published ahead of print in Microbiology 5th of May, 2016. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.000304.
- IV Olkkola S, Kovanen S, Roine J, Hänninen ML, Hielm-Björkman A, Kivistö R. Population genetics and antimicrobial susceptibility of canine *Campylobacter* isolates collected before and after a raw feeding experiment. PLoS ONE. 2015, 10(7):e0132660.

The publications and Figure 5 have been reprinted with the kind permission of their copyright holders. In addition, some previously unpublished material is presented.

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

16S-RMTase	16S ribosomal RNA methyltransferase
AAC	aminoglycoside acetyltransferase
ABySS	Assembly by Short Sequences
AGA	aminoglycoside group of antimicrobials
AME	aminogycoside-modifying enzyme
ANT	aminoglycoside nucleotidyltransferase
APH	aminoglycoside phosphotransferase
BLAST	Basic Local Alignement Tool
CAT	chloramphenicol acetyltransferase
CC	clonal complex
CD	coding sequence
CFU	colony-forming unit
CIP	ciprofloxacin
CLSI	Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute
CNP	clusters of nucleotide polymorphism
DANO	danofloxacin
DDD	defined daily dose
ECDC	European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control
ECOFF	Epidemiological cut-off value
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EMA	European Medicines Agency
ERY	Erythromycin
ESAC-net	European Surveillance of Antimicrobial Consumption network
ESVAC	European Surveillance of Veterinary Antimicrobial Consumption
EUCAST	European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing
FIMEA	Finnish Medicines Agency
FiRe	Finnish Study Group for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing
GEP	Genome profiler
IM	intramuscularly
LBA	Luria Bertani agar
LOS	lipooligosaccharide
mCCDA	modified charcoal cefoperazone deoxycholate agar
MDR	multiple drug resistance
MH	Muller-Hinton
MHA	Muller-Hinton agar
MHB	Muller-Hinton Broth
MIC	minimum inhibitory concentration
MIRA	Mimicking Intelligent Read Assembly
MLST	multilocus sequence typing/type
NA	nutrient agar
NAL	nalidixic acid
NB	nutrient broth
NBA	nutrient-blood agar
NGS	next-generation sequencing

NWT	non-wild type microorganism
OD	optical density
ΡαβΝ	phenyl-arginine-β-naphthylamine
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PCU	population correction unit
QRDR	quinolone resistance determining region
RAST	Rapid Annotation using Subsystem Technology
RFLP-PFGE	restriction fragment length polymorphisms pulsed field gel electrophoresis
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
SPEC	spectinomycin
ST	sequence type
STR	streptomycin
VBNC	viable but non-cultivable
wgMLST	whole genome multilocus sequence typing
WGS	whole-genome sequencing
WHO	World Health Organization
WT	wild type microorganims

## **1** INTRODUCTION

Campylobacteriosis is the most commonly reported bacterial zoonosis in the European Union (1). The predominant species isolated from human infections is *Campylobacter jejuni*, followed by *C. coli*, but also other *Campylobacter* spp. have been associated with human disease, including *C. upsaliensis* (2-6). While most human infections are self-limiting, antimicrobial treatment is warranted in severe cases or for immunocompromised patients, preferably using the macrolide or fluoroquinolone antimicrobials with aminoglycosides indicated for septicaemia (7).

Humans have been estimated to produce between 100 000 and 200 000 tonnes of antimicrobials annually, and increasing resistance rates to these agents have been observed in many human pathogens, including *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* (8). The World Health Organization (WHO) has warned that, unless radical measures are undertaken, we might be soon entering a post-antibiotic era (9). Resistance to antimicrobial agents has traditionally been considered to incur a fitness cost in bacteria, but nowadays there is mounting evidence that this might not be true in many cases due to, for example, compensatory mutations (10, 11).

The large-scale use of antimicrobials in agriculture has led to the emergence of resistant strains, and alarmingly high rates of resistance in *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* to certain antimicrobials, such as fluoroquinolones, have been reported in many countries, recently also against aminoglycosides in the United States and China (12-14). Also, high rates of STR-resistant *Campylobacter* have been detected in several studies (15-19). Although STR and other aminoglycosides are only infrequently used in clinical settings nowadays due to their oto- and nephrotoxic side effects, the detection of ever-increasing numbers of resistant bacteria has revived clinical interest in this group of antimicrobials (20-22).

The only reported resistance mechanisms to aminoglycosides in *Campylobacter* spp. have been the presence of genes encoding aminoglycoside-modifying enzymes (AMEs) (14, 23-25). These genes are often found as part of resistance plasmids or transposons containing also virulence or other resistance-associated genes and thought to have spread to *Campylobacter* spp. through horizontal transfer mainly from Gram-positive bacterial species (24, 26). Streptomycin resistance has often been detected in multi-resistant *Campylobacter* strains, indicating a common spread of resistance determinants. Further, we observed a statistically significant increase in the isolation frequency of STR-resistant *C. coli* from pigs treated with tylosin (27).

*C. upsaliensis* is commonly isolated from dog faeces and has also been reported to cause disease in humans, often associated with some underlying predisposing factor such as immunosuppression (3-6). Since dogs often are in close contact with humans, the occurrence of antimicrobial resistance of this canine-associated *Campylobacter* species is important to be assessed. In some studies, a high proportion of STR-resistant *C. upsaliensis* has been detected, but the resistance mechanisms have not been examined (5, 28). In addition, low rates of quinolone resistance have been reported, but also these mechanisms remain uncharacterized in *C. upsaliensis* (28-30).

The main aim of this thesis was to elucidate the mechanisms of high and intermediatelevel STR resistance in two *Campylobacter* spp., *C. coli* and *C. upsaliensis*. Further, macrolide and quinolone resistance associated mutations were studied in porcine *C. coli* and antimicrobial susceptibility patterns and quinolone resistance associated mutations were studied in *C. upsaliensis* originating from a set of Finnish dogs.

# 2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

# 2.1 Historical highlights of Campylobacter

In 1886, Theodor Escherich reported spiral bacteria in the faeces and colon of dead infants who had had diarrhoea ('cholera infantum') but his findings were only recognized 100 years later in 1986 by Manfred Kist and referred to be actually diarrhoea associated with *Campylobacter* (reviewed in (31)). A vibrio resembling bacterium or spirillum was also reported from aborted sheep foetuses in the early 1900s by two veterinarians, McFadyean and Stockman (31) and from foetuses of bovines with infectious abortions by Smith and Taylor, who called the bacteria *Vibrio fetus* in 1919 (31). In addition, an agent termed *V. coli* was isolated from pigs with dysentery (32).

The first well-documented human *Campylobacter* infections were described in 1938 in association with a milk-borne outbreak and involved 355 inmates of two adjacent state institutions in Illinois, USA (33). In 1947, Vinzent et al. reported having isolated *V. fetus* from the blood of three pregnant women, two of which aborted (31, 34). In 1963, the causative agent was named *Campylobacter*, meaning curved rod in Greek with the type species of the genus being *C. fetus* (35).

However, *Campylobacter* spp. as infectious agents were first isolated from diarrhoeic human faeces only in 1968 with a special filtration technique and plating of the filtrate on selective agar plates containing antimicrobials (36). In the late 1970s, Skirrow isolated *C. coli* and *C. jejuni* from the faeces of diarrhoeic individuals also using growth medium containing antimicrobials as selective agents. He found evidence that *Campylobacter* is a common cause of acute enteritis in humans and suggested that poultry might be the primary source of the infection (37). His findings started a new era in the history of zoonotic *Campylobacter* spp.

# 2.2 The genus Campylobacter

The genera *Campylobacter* and *Arcobacter* form the family *Campylobacteraeceae* belonging to the order *Campylobacterales*, which in turn is a member of the class Epsilonproteobacteria together with, for example, the genera *Wollinella* and *Helicobacter*. At present, the *Campylobacter* genus comprises 26 validated species (Table 1) (<u>http://www.bacterio.net/campylobacter.html</u>, accessed 10.12.2015, (38)). *Campylobacter* spp. are Gram-negative, motile, flagellated, curved or spiral rods. Most of the species require microaerobic atmosphere for growth, while some require a hydrogen-enriched atmosphere. Most *Campylobacter* spp. grow in the temperature range of 30-37 °C, but the thermophilic species (e.g. *C. jejuni, C. coli, C. upsaliensis* and *C. lari*) are able to grow at higher temperatures (up to 42°C) (39). *Campylobacter* spp. are generally very vulnerable to many environmental stresses, e.g. disinfectants, drying or UV radiation (3, 40), but they can survive certain stressful conditions, such as cold water, for long periods (3, 41, 42).

Species	Most important reservoir(s) and hosts	Pathogenicity to humans	
C. avium	poultry	unknown	
C. canadiensis	wild birds ( <i>Grus americana</i> =whooping crane)	unknown	
C. coli	pigs, other domestic animals	diarrhoea, septicaemia, abortion	
C. conscisus	humans	periodontal disease	
C. corcagiensis	Macaque (Macaca silenus)	unknown	
C. cuniculorum	rabbits	unknown	
C. curvus	humans	gingivitis, periodontitis, periodontosis	
C. fetus	cattle, sheep	septicaemia, abortion	
C. gracilis	humans	periodontal disease	
C. helveticus	cats, dogs	unknown	
C. hominis	humans	unknown	
C. hyointestinalis	pigs, cattle, deer, human	gastroenteritis	
C. iguaniorum	reptiles	unknown	
C. insulaenigrae	marine mammals	unknown	
C. jejuni	poultry, other domestic animals, wild birds, humans	gastroenteritis, septicaemia, abortion	
C. lanienae	humans, pigs, bovine	unknown	
C. lari	wild birds (seagulls), other animals, water, shellfish	gastroenteritis, septicaemia	
C. mucosalis	pigs	unknown	
C. peloridis	humans, shellfish	unknown	
C. rectus	humans	periodontal disease, abscesses, appendicitis	
C. showae	humans	periodontal disease	
C. sputorum	humans, cattle, sheep, pigs	abscesses, gastroenteritis	
C. subantarcticus	birds	unknown	
C. upsaliensis	dogs, cats, humans	gastroenteritis, septicaemia, abortion	
C. ureolyticus	humans	putative gastrointestinal pathogen	
C. volucris	wild birds ( <i>Larus ridibundus</i> = black- headed gull)	unknown	

**Table 1.** *Campylobacter* species, the most important known hosts and reservoirs and pathogenicity to humans.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>http://www.bacterio.net/campylobacter.html (38)

# 2.3 Human Campylobacter infections and their reservoirs

Several *Campylobacter* species are commensal bacteria in their natural hosts, but able to cause disease in other species such as gastroenteritis and septicaemia in humans and abortion in bovine and sheep (39). Campylobacteriosis is the most commonly reported bacterial zoonosis in the European Union (1), and the incidence of campylobacteriosis seems to have risen during the last ten years at least in countries from which consistent monitoring data are available (43). The most important human pathogen of the genus is *C. jejuni*, which has been estimated to account for up to 90% of the human infections, followed by *C. coli*, which causes approximately 5-10% (or according to some studies up to 25%) of the campylobacteriosis cases (43-45). However, discrepant reports also exist with up to two-thirds of the *Campylobacter* isolated from human diarrhoeic stools being species other than *C. jejuni* (3, 43) and several other *Campylobacter* species have been recognized as human pathogens, including *C. upsaliensis* (3-6).

Enteritis caused by *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* presents as an acute inflammatory terminal ileitis, cecitis and mesenteric adenitis (2). All age groups can be affected, but there is some evidence that the prevalence is higher in small children and young adults (43). In addition, other *Campylobacter* spp. can cause human gastroenteritis that may be milder and often go unrecognized due to the lack of appropriate cultivating techniques required by some of the species (43). Human campylobacteriosis is commonly accompanied by abdominal pain, diarrhoea and fever. The disease is usually self-limiting and no antimicrobials are needed (2). However, antimicrobial treatment is warranted in severe or prolonged infections and in immunocompromised patients, with macrolides and fluoroquinolones being the first and second treatment choices, respectively (2, 43). Intravenous aminoglycosides have been indicated as a first-line treatment in serious systemic *Campylobacter* infections and bacteraemia (7). Several post-infectious diseases have been associated with campylobacteriosis, including Guillan-Barrè syndrome (GBS) and reactive arthritis, among others, but there are also studies finding association between campylobacter infections, even with the increasingly common celiac disease (46).

*Campylobacter* spp. are widely spread in the animal kingdom, and hosts include an extensive range of land and sea mammals, reptiles and birds (39). Poultry and wild birds are among the main reservoirs for *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* (47), and eating or handling raw or uncooked chicken meat has been considered to be the most important source of human campylobacteriosis (41, 48). Pigs have a higher prevalence of *C. coli* than *C. jejuni* (27, 49, 50), and *C. upsaliensis* is the major *Campylobacter* spp. recovered from dogs (51, 52).

### 2.4 Campylobacter genome

The *Campylobacter* genome consist of a circular chromosome of approximately 1.6-1.7 Mb in size and containing about 1500-1700 coding sequences (29, 53, 54). In a study analyzing genomes of 42 *C. coli* and 43 *C. jejuni* strains, the average *C. coli* genome size was found to be larger than that of *C. jejuni* (1732 vs 1609 orthologues) and also the core genome of *C. coli* was bigger, but the proportion of core to accessory genes (ca. 83%) was similar between the species (55).

Plasmids and integrated elements are part of the accessory genome and also found in *Campylobacter* spp. (24). They are known to spread through horizontal transfer and can contain also antimicrobial resistance or virulence-associated genes. Further, also hypervariable genomic regions are part of the accessory genome, and in *C. jejuni* several of these regions (also known as regions of divergence or plasticity) have been described with variable genomic content consisting

of, for instance, genes encoding lipooligosaccharides (LOSs), motility, restriction-modification systems and metabolism (56, 57). The variation in these regions results from both gene sequence divergence and the presence or absence of specific genes (58, 59). The putative hypervariable regions in other *Campylobacter* spp. have not been extensively studied.

### 2.5 Antimicrobial agents

Antimicrobial agents are substances that either inhibit the growth of (microbistatic effect) or kill (microbicidal effect) susceptible micro-organisms. In the broad sense, the term also includes antiseptics and disinfectants together with antimicrobial drugs. Antimicrobial drugs can be further divided into antibacterial, antiviral and antifungal substances. While the term antibiotic was originally used to refer only to the antibacterial agents originating from living organisms, such as aminoglycoside-producing Actinomycetes, it is now used in common language also for semi-synthetic and synthetic antimicrobial drugs. The term antimicrobial or antimicrobial drug will be used in this thesis to indicate antibacterial drugs and antibiotics.

Antimicrobial drugs have several mechanisms of action against bacteria, the main ones being inhibition of synthesis of the bacterial cell wall, proteins or nucleic acids and damage to the bacterial cell membrane. They are divided into classes based on their structure and mode of action. The main classes of interest are shown in Table 2.

			Consun	nption
Class	Main mechanism of action	Example drugs	Human med <sup>1</sup>	Vet med <sup>2</sup>
Beta-lactams	Bactericidal, inhibition of cell wall synthesis	Penicillins, cephalosporins	10.18	9763
Tetracyclines	Bacteriostatic, protein synthesis inhibition at 50S ribosomal subunit	Tetracycline, doxycycline	4.52	2389
Sulphonamides, diaminopyrimidins	Bacteriostatic/bactericidal, folic acid synthesis inhibition	Sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim	1.32	3129
Macrolides	Bacteriostatic, protein synthesis inhibition at 50S ribosomal subunit	Erythromycin, tylosin	1.23	456
Quinolones	Bactericidal, inhibition of DNA gyrase	Ciprofloxacin, danofloxacin	1.13	105
Aminoglycosides	Bactericidal, protein synthesis inhibition/aberrant protein synthesis at 30S ribosomal subunit	Streptomycin, gentamicin	0.02	103

**Table 2.** Main antimicrobial groups of clinical interest, their mechanisms of action and their use in Finland.

<sup>1</sup>DDD, Defined Daily Dose/1000 inhabitants/day in 2014 (Finnish Statistics on Medicines 2014, <u>www.</u> <u>kela.fi</u>)

<sup>2</sup>kg of active substance in 2013 (Lääketukuista myydyt, eläimille tarkoitetut mikrobilääkkeet 2001-2013, <u>www.fimea.fi</u>)

#### 2.5.1 Aminoglycosides

The aminoglycoside group of antimicrobials (AGAs) was one of the first antimicrobial classes introduced for clinical use in the 1940s. This class consists of several compounds belonging to a number of groups based on their core structure, but all share common structural components, amino-modified sugars (glycosides) connected to an aminocyclitol nucleus. The most common AGAs contain 2-deoxystreptamine as a core structure (20). They are natural or semisynthetic products of bacteria such as *Streptomyces* spp. and *Micromonospora* spp.

Aminoglycosides are positively charged, basic, highly soluble in water and relatively soluble in lipids (60) and contain several free hydroxyl groups and a minimum of two amino groups by which they bind with the 30S ribosomal structures (20). They are chemically stable (61), and oxygen and ATP are required for the transfer of aminoglycosides into the bacterial cell (60). The majority of aminoglycosides are bactericidal, inhibiting protein synthesis by affecting ribosomal translational accuracy, translocation or proofreading. They have distinct ribosomal target sites within the 30S subunit, and even those sharing the same core structure may have distinct effects on the ribosome (62). For example, spectinomycin inhibits translocation of peptidyl-tRNA between different sites of 16S rRNA, while streptomycin makes the bacterial ribosome more prone to errors by stabilizing the error-prone state (see below) (63).

Aminoglycosides have been widely used over decades and have several indications in human infections including serious Campylobacter bacteraemia (7) as well as other infections caused by Gram-negative bacteria (60). However, their clinical applications are limited by their nephroand ototoxicity (64-67). After the commercial introduction of other broad-spectrum but safer antimicrobials in the 1970s, their use has declined worldwide (22) but in some countries, such as China, several aminoglycosides are still used at conventional broiler and swine farms (68). In Finland, the veterinary use of aminoglycosides has decreased steadily over the surveillance period of 2001-2013, with the sales of aminoglycosides (of active substance) decreasing from 632 kgs in 2001 to 103 kgs in 2013 (http://www.fimea.fi/elainlaakkeet/mikrobilaakkeiden\_kulutus\_ elaimilla) and consumption in food-producing animals being 0.2 mg/population correction unit (PCU) in 2013 (69). They are also only marginally used in human medicine (Finnish Statistics on Medicines 2014, <u>www.kela.fi</u>). Yet, with ever-increasing resistance to the newer antimicrobial agents, aminoglycosides are again attracting clinical interest, especially in combination therapy for the treatment of serious infections caused by Gram-negative bacteria or even as last-resort antibiotics (20-22). Several aminoglycosides, including streptomycin, are found in the WHO's list of essential medicines (http://www.who.int). Gentamicin is included in the European resistance surveillance programme for Campylobacter (70).

#### 2.5.1.1 Streptomycin

Streptomycin was the first aminoglycoside discovered, isolated from the soil bacterium *Streptomyces griseus* in 1943 (71, 72). It was also the first antimicrobial agent used successfully in the treatment of human tuberculosis caused by *M. tuberculosis* but also being effective against many Gram-negative bacteria that penicillin failed to affect. Its main use in humans still remains in the treatment of tuberculosis but it is also used to treat infections caused by the less common pathogens *Yersinia pestis, Francicella tularensis* and *Brucella* spp. (21, 60). Additionally, in some countries, it is used in plant agriculture in a spray formulation, mostly to prevent fire blight in apple and pear tree orchards (73, 74). In Finland, there is still one orally administered veterinary

streptomycin-containing drug registered for use in piglets and calves, and indicated mainly for the treatment of enteric infections (75).



Figure 1. Structure of streptomycin (PubChem Compound Database).

Streptomycin is the only aminoglycoside having a guanidinylated streptamin core (20). It binds to the 16S rRNA at four different sites both through hydrogen bonds and salt bridges and is also in contact with ribosomal protein S12 encoded by the gene *rpsL* (63). It appears to stabilize the *ram* or error-prone state of the ribosomal 30S subunit helix 27 accuracy switch allowing the binding of non-cognate transfer RNAs to the ribosome and leading to aberrant protein synthesis (63). There is also evidence that it exerts its bactericidal activity partly because it becomes caged in the bacterial cell. The mechanism proposed is through insertion of mistranslated proteins in the cytoplasmic membrane, which facilitates higher influx of the agent, and thereafter bacterial proteases lyse these mistranlated proteins, trapping streptomycin and toxic protein intermediates inside the cell (76).

### 2.5.2 Quinolones

Quinolones are completely synthetic compounds originally derived from the antimalarial drug chloroquine. The first quinolone, nalidixic acid, was patented in 1962 (77). Quinolones are based

on a two-ring nucleus, either a naphtyridone with nitrogen at positions 1 and 8, or a quinolone with only one nitrogen at position 1 (77). They are bactericidal in action and bind primarily to DNA gyrase enzyme in Gram-negative bacteria or topoisomerase IV enzyme in Gram-positive bacteria, the DNA supercoiling and relaxing enzymes, respectively. The enzymes become trapped on DNA, thereby blocking the progression of the DNA replication fork (78-81).

While nalidixic acid has only low absorptivity from the gastrointestinal track and modest action against Gram-negative bacteria, the newer fluorinated compounds in this class, called fluoroquinolones, show marked improvements in both gastrointestinal absorption and spectrum of activity (77, 82, 83). Fluoroquinolones are also important in the treatment of enteric bacterial infections, including campylobacteriosis (84). The fluoroquinolones enrofloxacin and sarafloxacin were accepted in the United States for the treatment of respiratory colibacillosis in chickens and turkeys in the mid 1990s but have been banned since 2005 due to the rapid increase of resistance among *C. jejuni* (85).

Nowadays, there are over 10 000 compounds derived from the bicyclic parent quinolone molecules (86), with several of them registered in Finland for treatment of human (ciprofloxacin, levofloxacin, moxifloxacin, norfloxacin, ofloxacin) and animal (enrofloxacin, marbofloxacin, pradofloxacin, danofloxacin) infections (<u>www.fimea.fi</u>). Only ciprofloxacin, danofloxacin and nalidixic, which are of interest in this thesis, are discussed in more detail below.

Nalidixic acid, a quinolone, has a naphtyridone nucleus and contains an ethyl group at position 1 nitrogen (Fig. 2). Its main use is in the treatment of urinary tract infections in humans, as it concentrates in the urine (77). No quinolone antimicrobials are registered for veterinary or human use in Finland. Nalidixic acid is used in monitoring quinolone resistance and as an early indicator of emerging fluoroquinolone-resistant bacteria in the EU *Campylobacter* resistance surveillance (70).

The fluoroquinolone ciprofloxacin has a quinolone nucleus with a cyclopropyl group in position 1 nitrogen and a piperazin group in position 7 carbon (Fig. 2). It was introduced for clinical use in the 1980s and has a wide variety of indications in humans, including respiratory tract, complicated urinary tract, gastroenteric and genital infections (<u>www.fimea.fi</u>), and it is also included in the EU *Campylobacter* resistance monitoring (70). It is not used for animals.

Danofloxacin is a veterinary fluoroquinolone otherwise structurally similar to ciprofloxacin but containing a diazabicycloheptan in position 7 carbon (Fig. 3). It is indicated for respiratory tract infections and enteritis in bovine and swine, with one formulation currently sold in Finland (75).



Figure 2. Structure of nalidixic acid (left) and ciprofloxacin (right) (PubChem Compound Database).



Figure 3. Structure of danofloxacin (PubChem Compound Database).

#### 2.5.3 Macrolides

Macrolides are natural or semisynthetic products of soil *Streptomyces* bacteria and have been used since the 1950s (87, 88). They have a 14-, 15- or 16-membered lactone ring as a core structure which can contain several neutral or amino sugars (89). They have been shown to inhibit the elongation of bacterial peptides by blocking the ribosomal exit tunnel (90, 91). They are considered broad-spectrum and generally safe antimicrobials with only few side-effects (88). Several macrolides are accepted for use in Finland, in both humans (azithromycin, clarithromycin, erythromycin, roxithromycin, telithromycin) and animals (spiramycin, tulathromycin, tylosin) (www.fimea.fi).

Erythromycin, a 14-membered macrolide (Fig. 4), was first discovered in 1952 (92) and proved to be effective against Gram-positive pathogens, but has only modest activity against Gram-negative bacteria (88). It binds to the 23S rRNA macrolide binding pocket of the 50S subunit and this pocket is stabilized by ribosomal proteins L3, L4, L22 and L34 (88). Erythromycin causes the forming peptidyl-RNA to dissociate prematurely from the ribosome (89). Erythromycin has several clinical applications in human infectious diseases, and it is the first-choice antimicrobial for the treatment of campylobacteriosis when antimicrobial treatment is needed (2). Erythromycin resistance is monitored within the *Campylobacter* resistance monitoring programme in the EU (70).

Tylosin is a 16-membered veterinary macrolide (Fig. 4) that has a similar mechanism of action as erythromycin. It is used mainly for the treatment of respiratory, joint and enteric infections in animals. In Finland, tylosin is registered for pigs, cattle, poultry, dogs and cats and indications in pigs include the treatment of infections such as proliferative enteropathy caused by *Lawsonia intracellularis*, swine dysentery caused by *Brachyspira hyodysenteriae*, *Mycoplasma hyopneumonia* infections (tylosin is an alternative treatment) and also joint infections (75). Moreover, tylosin has been commonly used for growth-promoting purposes in pigs worldwide (93).



Figure 4. Structure of erythromycin (left) and tylosin (right) (PubChem Compound Database).

## 2.6 Antimicrobial consumption and surveillance

Humans have been estimated to manufacture 100 000-200 000 tonnes of antimicrobials annually (8), and antimicrobials are among the most commonly purchased drugs worldwide (94). These drugs are not used only for the treatment of human and animal infectious diseases. A large part of the produced antimicrobials is in fact consumed in agriculture for disease prophylaxis, metaphylaxis and growth promotion of food-producing animals, mainly chickens and pigs, in many parts of the world (95) and also in aquaculture and horticulture (8). In the EU member states, the use of antimicrobials for growth promotion purposes has been banned since 2006 (EU regulation no. 1831/2003). However, in several other countries such as the United States, antimicrobial use for growth promotion is allowed. In the United States alone, 15 000 tonnes of antimicrobials (of active ingredient) were sold in 2013 for use in food-producing animals (96), while, for comparison, less than 3300 tonnes were estimated to be sold for human use in 2011 (95). In the EU (a total of 26 countries), 3400 tonnes of antimicrobials (of active ingredient) were sold for humans and 7982 tonnes for use in food-producing animals in 2012 (97). Further, global consumption of antimicrobials for food-producing animals was estimated to be >60 000 tonnes in 2010 and forecasted to rise to >100 000 tonnes by 2030, mainly due to the increasing number of food-producing animals (95).

Surveillance activity of antimicrobial consumption varies between countries and regions, with well-established regular surveillance programmes in, for example, Canada, the US and most European countries. However, in many countries, surveillance is less regular (Australia, New Zealand) or non-existent (most developing countries). EU member countries report veterinary sales figures to the European Medicines Agency (EMA) overseeing the European Surveillance of Veterinary Antimicrobial Consumption (ESVAC) and human sales to the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), which coordinates the European Surveillance of Antimicrobial Consumption network (ESAC-net).

In Finland, the Finnish Medicines Agency (Fimea) collects data on antimicrobial sales for animals. Total sales of veterinary antimicrobials in Finland in 2013 were 16.3 tonnes (http:// www.fimea.fi/elainlaakkeet/mikrobilaakkeiden\_kulutus\_elaimilla) and for food-producing animals 12.5 tonnes (cf. Sweden 10 tonnes, France 681 tonnes, Italy 1318 tonnes) (69). Corrected with PCU, which takes into account the size of the food animal population in each country, the consumption for food-producing animals in Finland was 24.3 mg/PCU, which is low relative to most other EU countries (Sweden 12.6 mg/PCU, France 95 mg/PCU, Italy 302 mg/PCU) (69). The most sold classes of veterinary antimicrobials in Finland were  $\beta$ -lactams (G-penicillin), followed by sulfonamide-trimethoprim and tetracyclines (Table 2). However, little or no information is available on the Finnish antimicrobial consumption per animal species or indication group.

The low level of veterinary consumption in Finland can be accounted to several factors. These include efficient eradication of many common infectious animal diseases, veterinarians being allowed to hand over antimicrobials to animal owners in Finland but without profit (Lääkelaki 395/87) and all antimicrobial usage requiring a prescription. For example, in humans, the non-prescription use of antimicrobials has been estimated to range from 19% to 100% of total antimicrobial usage in countries outside of the northern Europe and North America (94).

Because different units are used in surveillance of antimicrobial consumption (sales) for animals (kg of active substance) and humans (defined daily dose, DDD), comparison of the data is difficult (Table 2). However, in a recent EU report, it was estimated that approximately 47.3 tonnes of active ingredient of antimicrobials was used for humans in Finland in 2012 (as converted back from DDD) (97), while total veterinary sales were 16.0 tonnes (http://www.fimea. fi/elainlaakkeet/mikrobilaakkeiden\_kulutus\_elaimilla) with production animals accounting for 12.2 tonnes (97). Thus, veterinary antimicrobials accounted for 25% of total antimicrobial sales, with 19% intended for food-producing animals in Finland (97). However, these numbers are only very rough estimates of usage, as several factors cannot be accounted for, including, off-label use of antimicrobials in animals and differences between sales figures and actual consumption.

# 2.7 Antimicrobial resistance monitoring and susceptibility testing

Antimicrobial susceptibility testing is performed both for guiding the therapy of infectious bacterial diseases and for epidemiological monitoring of bacterial resistance rates. According to Directive 2003/99/EC, all EU member states are required to provide antimicrobial resistance monitoring data. In Finland, antimicrobial resistance monitoring from pathogenic bacteria from humans is coordinated by the National Institute for Health and Welfare and the Finnish Study Group for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (FiRe). Resistance data from zoonotic and indicator bacteria from animals are collected by the Finnish Food Safety Authority. The results of monitoring are published regularly in national FINRES and FINRES-Vet reports. EU-wide surveillance data are collected by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) and ECDC, which publish the resistance prevalence data annually.

Two different criteria are used for dividing bacteria into susceptible and resistant populations. The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) defines clinical resistance in the context of the likelihood of therapeutic success or failure at the achievable antimicrobial activity at the desired body site using clinical breakpoints. On the other hand, for monitoring purposes, microbial resistance is defined by the absence or presence of acquired resistance mechanisms for the tested antimicrobial, dividing bacteria into wild-type (WT) and non-wild-type (NWT) populations using epidemiological cut-off (ECOFF) values derived from MIC (minimum inhibitory concentration) distributions of studied bacterial populations (www.eucast.org). The MIC is defined as the lowest antimicrobial concentration inhibiting all visible growth of an organism after overnight incubation (for certain organisms, including *Campylobacter* spp., the incubation period is extended due to slower growth) (98). For a given bacterial species, the clinical break-points and ECOFFs can differ from each other.

Several phenotypic and genotypic methods exist for testing antimicrobial susceptibility. Commonly used phenotypic methods are agar dilution, broth macro- and microdilution, disc diffusion and E-test (PDM Epsilometer, AB Biodisk, Solna, Sweden). In the dilution methods, generally performed by cultivating bacteria on agar plates containing serial dilutions of an antimicrobial agent or inoculating broth in test tubes or microtitre wells containing doubling concentrations of antimicrobial, the antimicrobial activity is defined by the first concentration with no visible growth of bacteria (MIC). In disc diffusion tests and E-test, the growth inhibition zone around a disc or strip containing an antimicrobial is measured.

Genetic resistance testing methods are based on detecting a known resistance associated gene or mutation by PCR and sequencing or by using genomic data acquired through next-generation sequencing (NGS) techniques. These methods provide a fast and efficient way to detect antimicrobial resistance for mechanistic and epidemiological screening.

The first standardized phenotypic susceptibility testing method for *Campylobacter* spp., agar dilution, was only available as late as in 2004 (99). At present, EUCAST has standardized disc diffusion and broth microdilution methods while the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) recommends using the agar dilution and broth microdilution methods for *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* (13). At the time of writing, the document summarizing EUCAST methodology for MIC determination of non-fastidious and fastidious organism was under preparation (<u>www.eucast. org</u>).

## 2.8 Antimicrobial resistance prevalence and mechanisms

Antimicrobial resistance is a growing problem worldwide and the World Health Organization has expressed a concern that unless drastic actions are taken we might be entering the post-antibiotic era already in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. This means that micro-organisms will become so resistant to common antimicrobials that no treatment options remain and we will face a situation in which even a minor injury/infection can lead to death (9). While the large-scale use of antimicrobials by humans only began in the 20th century, antimicrobial agents, and consequently, antimicrobial resistance-conferring genes, are ancient and very prevalent in, for example, environmental bacteria (100). The environment has been proposed to be a rich source of resistance genes readily mobilized into pathogenic bacteria upon selection and a concept of an antimicrobial resistome has been introduced and suggested to include all known antibiotic resistance genes and their precursors (100). Bacteria are known to exchange DNA through transduction, transformation and conjugation facilitating horizontal transfer of resistance-conferring genes. In addition, while harboring antimicrobial resistance-conferring mutations and genes have been traditionally thought to incur a fitness cost to an organism (101), there is now growing evidence of cost-free mutations and that several compensatory mechanisms can alleviate fitness costs, indicating that even cessation of the use of antimicrobials does not necessarily eradicate resistant strains at, for instance, animal production facilities (10, 11). This is a concern also since there is mounting evidence that an increase in antimicrobial consumption in animals can increase the occurrence of resistant bacteria in humans (9, 97).

In general, antimicrobial resistance in bacteria can be conferred by three main mechanisms: decreasing antimicrobial entrance into the cell usually conferred by efflux mechanisms or reduced permeability of the cell membrane, drug target alteration that prevents the binding of the drug and enzymatic modification of antimicrobials (102). Resistance can also be divided into intrinsic and acquired forms. Intrinsically resistant bacterial species are naturally resistant to certain antimicrobials, for example, due to lack of a binding site for the drug or having a growth environment that does not favor the action of the antimicrobial. *Campylobacter* are considered intrinsically resistant to several antimicrobials such as polymyxin, novobiocin, cephalothin, cefoperazone and rifampin (103-105). Acquired resistance, on the other hand, can be conveyed by obtaining resistance encoding genes or mutations in bacterial genomes or increased action of certain efflux pumps. The main resistance mechanisms described in *Campylobacter* spp. are schematically presented in Fig. 5 and those relevant for this thesis, namely against aminoglycosides, quinolones and macrolides, are discussed further below.



**Figure 5.** Main resistance mechanisms described in Campylobacter spp. Aminogl.: aminoglycosides  $\beta$ :  $\beta$ -lactams, CmeABC: efflux pump, MOMP: major outer membrane protein, mRNA: messenger RNA, Tet: tetracycline, TetO: ribosomal protection protein, 30S, 50S: bacterial ribosomal subunits. Published in (106).

#### 2.8.1 Resistance to aminoglycosides

A commonly described aminoglycoside resistance mechanism in bacteria is enzymatic modification of the drugs, and a vast number of genes encoding these modification enzymes have been described in a vast number of bacterial species (107-109). The aminoglycoside-modifying enzymes (AMEs) are divided into three groups based on their mode of action, namely the phosphotransferases (APH), acetyltransferases (AAC) and nucleotidyl/adenylyltransferases (ANT), the second forming the largest and the last the smallest group (107). These enzymes function by phosphorylating, acetylating or adenylylating a specific free hydroxyl or amino group of the drug, thereby leading to inactivation (20). The AMEs form a heterologous group of enzymes, sometimes only sharing the ability to inactivate one or several aminoglycosides. Especially adenylyltransferases but also certain subgroups of phosphotransferases can share only low amino acid sequence identity with other members of the group (110-112).

There are two different nomenclature systems used for AMEs and their encoding genes, which further complicates the research of these enzymes and creates confusion. For example, in some occasions, the same name has been applied to two different enzymes (113). The system used in this thesis consists of a three-letter capitalized code specifying the enzymatic action (as above) followed by the site of modification as a number in parentheses and a Roman numeral indicating the resistance profile conveyed. In this system, the encoding genes are named with the same characters, but in lowercase and in italics (107, 113).

AME-encoding genes in bacteria are often located in transferrable genetic elements such as plasmids, integrons or transposons, commonly accompanied by other resistance or virulence genes, but they have also been found in chromosomes with no obvious indication of horizontal transfer mechanism. These genes could have evolved primarily in antibiotic-producing, mainly Gram-positive, soil bacteria and spread via horizontal transfer to other species or they could have arisen through convergent evolution in numerous bacterial species from chromosomal genes encoding enzymes originally with different functions and substrates (20, 108, 112, 114, 115). Some AMEs have been shown to have greater affinity for substrates other than aminoglycosides (116). For example, AAC(2')-Ia, a gentamicin resistance-conferring acetyltransferase encoded chromosomally in *Providencia stuartii*, has been shown to contribute to peptidoglycan O-acetylation (117). In addition to AME-encoding genes being often detected together with other resistance genes, there is at least one report of an aminoglycoside acetyltransferase that has acquired enzymatic activity capable of fluoroquinolone modification in *E. coli* (118).

Also, target binding site modification can confer aminoglycoside resistance. It can be due to mutations in the 30S ribosomal structures such as 16S rRNA (119) or enzymatic modification of the target site by 16S rRNA-methyltransferases (16S-RMTases), found in a number of pathogens, the encoding genes often also located in transferrable genetic elements such as plasmids (120, 121). However, the origins of the 16S-RMTase-encoding genes in pathogenic bacteria remain unknown (121).

For streptomycin, the most common resistance mechanism is the enzymatic drug modification mediated by ANT(6), ANT(3"), APH(6) and APH(3") classes of enzymes (107). Also, mutations at the ribosomal target sites, mainly in the *rrs* gene encoding 16S rRNA (122-124) and in *rpsL* encoding ribosomal protein S12, have been shown to result in streptomycin resistance (124-126). Mutations in 16S rRNA are clinically important merely in *M. tuberculosis*, which contains only one copy of the gene. On the contrary, mutations in the *rpsL* gene (in codons 43 and 88, *C. coli* numbering) have been associated with streptomycin resistance in

several bacterial species including *E. coli, M. tuberculosis* and *Helicobacter pylori* (122, 125, 126). Interestingly, mutations in a conserved 7-methylguanosine methyltransferase encoding gene *rsmG* (also known as *gidB*), resulting in a loss of function and consequently absence of methylation of a specific streptomycin binding site in bacterial 16S rRNA have been reported to confer a low level of streptomycin resistance in several bacterial species (127-130). In contrast, methylation of the target site by 16S-RMTases has not been associated with streptomycin resistance (121).

#### 2.8.1.1 Aminoglycoside resistance in Campylobacter spp.

In recent years, increasing rates of isolation of gentamicin-resistant *Campylobacter* strains originating from humans, animals and animal products have raised concerns both in the US and in China (12, 14). In addition, in many studies high incidence of streptomycin resistance in *C. coli* originating from both humans and animals has been reported (15-19, 131) and a higher rate of streptomycin-resistant isolates has been detected in *C. coli* than in *C. jejuni* (18, 132). Especially among porcine *C. coli*, high rates (48-90%) of streptomycin-resistant strains, often also resistant to other antimicrobials, have been reported in many countries, including Canada, Japan, Denmark, Switzerland and Italy (15-17, 131, 133, 134). In Finland, in a study of antimicrobial resistance in *C. jejuni* originating from several domestic sources, only one isolate resistant to gentamicin was detected, but the streptomycin resistance rate varied from 0 to 31% between sources (135). No gentamicin-resistant *C. jejuni* strains from broilers or *C. coli* from pigs were detected in 2013 in Finland, but 2.3% of *C. coli* from broilers were resistant to gentamicin and 37.4% of *C. coli* from pigs were resistant to streptomycin ((70), <u>www.zoonoosikeskus.fi</u>). However, most of the STR resistant porcine *C. coli* isolates had only small increase of STR MIC (8 mg/l) and excluding these isolates from the resistant fraction, the proportion of STR resistant isolates was 10.7%.

Also, a high incidence of streptomycin resistance has been reported among *C. upsaliensis* (5, 28) and streptomycin resistance has been proposed to be intrinsic for this species (28). Another study found that *C. upsaliensis* strain isolated from a human patient was resistant (unlike most other *Campylobacter* species studied) to nalidixic acid, oxytetracycline and novobiocin, but not to streptomycin or most of the  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics, including an amoxicillin-clavulanic acid combination, commonly used for various indications in small animal practice in Finland (29). However, the mechanisms of streptomycin resistance in *C. upsaliensis* have not been characterized and overall data on the prevalence of antimicrobial resistance among *Campylobacter* spp. from Finnish dogs are scarce or non-existent.

Numerous complete and partial sequences of AME-encoding genes have been detected in *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* (Table 3) (14, 24, 25, 68, 111, 136-141) often located in multidrug resistance plasmids (14, 24, 29, 141), chromosomally in genomic islands containing also other resistance or pathogenicity genes (25, 68) or as a part of integrons (140, 142). In particular, aminoglycoside 6-adenylyltransferase encoding genes, called *ant*(6), *aadE* or *aadK*, have been frequently described as part of a resistance gene triplet *aadE-sat4-aphA3* in *Campylobacter* spp. (14, 24, 68, 141) and they have shared sequence similarity with those from Gram-positive bacteria (24, 25, 68, 143). Other aminoglycoside resistance mechanisms have not been previously described in *Campylobacter* spp.

Gene <sup>1</sup>	Resistance conferred	Species	Location	Reference <sup>2</sup>
aac	kanamycin/not defined	C. jejuni/C. coli	plasmid/ chromosome	(24, 68)
aacA-AphD	not defined	C. coli	chromosome	(68)
aac(6')-Ie/ aph(2")-Ia	not defined	C. coli	not defined	(23)
aac(6')-Ie/ aph(2")-If <sub>2</sub>	not defined	C. jejuni	not defined	(23)
aacA4	tobramycin, gentamicin	C. jejuni	not defined	(140)
aad9	spectinomycin	C. jejuni, C. coli	plasmid	(14, 24)
aadA	non-functional	C. jejuni	plasmid	(24)
aadE	streptomycin	C. jejuni, C. coli	plasmid	(14, 24, 68, 139, 141)
ant(6)-Ib	streptomycin	C. fetus subsp. fetus	chromosome	(25)
aph(2")-Ib	gentamicin	C. jejuni	not defined	(144)
aph(2")-Ic	gentamicin	C. coli	not defined	(144)
aph(2")-Ig	gentamicin	C. coli	not defined	(144)
aph(2")-Ih	gentamicin	C. coli, C. jejuni	not defined	(144)
aph(2")-If <sub>(1-3)</sub>	kanamycin, gentamicin, tobramycin, dibekacin, sisomicin	C. jejuni, C. coli	plasmid/ not defined	(23, 24, 111)
aph(2")-Ig	gentamicin, kanamycin	C. coli	plasmid	(14)
aphA-3	kanamycin	C. jejuni, C.coli	plasmid, choromosome	(14, 24, 68, 137, 141, 145)
aphA-7	kanamycin	C. jejuni/C. coli	plasmid/ not defined	(68, 146)
sat4	streptothricin	C. jejuni, C.coli	plasmid, chromosome	(14, 24, 68, 141)

 Table 3. Aminoglycoside and streptothricin resistance genes detected in Campylobacter spp.

<sup>1</sup>Annotation used by the authors has been applied

<sup>2</sup>Even though several studies have described genes annotated identically (e.g. *aadE*), their nucleotide sequences might differ significantly

#### 2.8.2 Resistance to quinolones

Common quinolone resistance mechanisms in bacteria include mutations in the quinolone resistance determining region (QRDR) of the GyrA subunit of DNA gyrase or the ParC of the topoisomerase IV. Also reduced cell permeability or increased efflux has been shown to contribute to quinolone resistance (Fig. 5) (81). Further, a plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance gene conferring a low level of resistance has been described in certain Gram-negative bacteria, but not in *Campylobacter* (147, 148).

Since *Campylobacter* spp. lack the *parC* and *parE* genes encoding the topoisomerase IV subunits, resistance to quinolones is generally mediated by mutation(s) in the *gyrA* gene and by increased efflux by an unspecific CmeABC efflux pump (53, 149-152). The most commonly described resistance-conferring mutation in *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* is the one leading to amino acid substitution T86I (Threonine86Isoleucine) in GyrA resulting in a high level of resistance. Other substitutions in QRDR of GyrA have also been associated with various levels of quinolone resistance or resistance to nalidixic acid only (150, 151, 153-156). Unlike in bacteria containing two targets for the quinolones, development of quinolone resistance in *Campylobacter* is not a stepwise process, but a single point mutation in the QRDR of *gyrA* can lead to high levels of resistance (156-158), indicating that these species are sensitive indicators on the use of fluoroquinolones. Further, it has been suggested that fluoroquinolone resistance does not incur a fitness cost in *C. jejuni*, as resistant isolates have been shown to outcompete susceptible ones in chicken (159).

After the introduction of fluoroquinolones in human and veterinary medicine in the 1980s, increasing rates of resistant *Campylobacter* isolates have been detected worldwide (160, 161). Even though the use of fluoroquinolones in poultry production in the US was banned in 2005, there are reports showing that quinolone-resistant *Campylobacter* persists in poultry for years after usage, further complicating the eradication of resistant strains (85, 162). In countries mainly located in the southern and eastern parts of Europe, high resistance rates in *C. coli* and *C. jejuni* (>90%) have been reported in humans and animals, while the Nordic countries have generally had low rates of resistance (13, 70). Further, higher rates of fluoroquinolone resistance have been detected among *C. coli* than *C. jejuni* in studies from several countries (13).

In 2013, none of the investigated Finnish *C. jejuni* isolates from broilers were resistant to ciprofloxacin, but 9.2% were resistant to nalidixic acid, and 18.3% of the *C. coli* from pigs were resistant to ciprofloxacin (70). In 2014, the national monitoring programme found 25% of the studied *C. jejuni* from broilers to be quinolone-resistant (<u>www.zoonoosikeskus.fi</u>).

#### 2.8.3 Resistance to macrolides

Resistance to macrolides is mainly conferred by alterations in the ribosomal drug binding sites, either by acquisition of a methylase-encoding gene (*erm*) or through mutations in the host ribosomes, and by increased efflux (Fig. 5). The methylating genes are usually found in Grampositive species and they methylate specific macrolide binding sites of 23S rRNA, thereby inhibiting the binding (88). The resistance conferring mutations in the host ribosomes are mainly located in the macrolide binding sites of the 23S rRNA (163). The other prevalent resistance mechanism is increased efflux by an efflux pump that is mediated through acquisition of genes encoding efflux-proteins by Gram-positive species (164, 165) or by intrinsic non-specific transport systems, mainly found in Gram-negative species (88).

The described mechanisms of macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter* include mutations in the 23S rRNA macrolide binding sites and increased efflux by the non-specific CmeABC efflux pump (29, 166-168). *Campylobacter* have three copies of the 23S rRNA gene and at least two mutated copies are needed for a resistant phenotype (166, 169). Also mutations in the ribosomal proteins L4 and L22 have been associated with a low level of macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter* (170, 171). Further, among *Campylobacter* spp., the *erm* gene was first described in *C. rectus* (172), and it was recently found to confer a high level of macrolide resistance also in several *C. coli* isolates originating from China. In *C. coli*, it was found to be a part of a transferrable multiple drug resistance has been thought to incur a fitness cost in *Campylobacter* (175), but there are no studies on the effect on fitness in *Campylobacter* spp. after the acquisition of this new resistance determinant.

Compared with fluoroquinolones, macrolide resistance is not as common among *C. jejuni* from animals in EU countries, with the highest rate of 2.8% detected in Spain and no resistance in Finland in 2013 (70, 135). However, higher rates of macrolide-resistant *C. coli* than *C. jejuni* have been frequently reported (3, 70, 93, 163) with average ERY resistance of *C. coli* from broilers in 2013 being 13.7% compared with 0.4% in *C. jejuni* isolated from the same source in EU (70). Large differences in the prevalence of ERY-resistant *C. coli* from broilers were seen between countries, varying from 0 in several countries to 43% in Spain. Further, on average 20.7% of the porcine *C. coli* isolates were resistant to ERY in 2013 in the EU, but also varying greatly, from 2.3% in Finland to 58.3% in Spain (70).

# 2.9 Whole-genome sequencing and applications in resistance research

#### 2.9.1 Sequencing technologies, assembly and annotation

Sanger sequencing technology was first introduced in 1977 (176) and relied on incorporating dideoxynucleotides in four separate reactions to DNA *in vitro*, terminating the elongation of the forming nucleotide chain. Originally, these resultant DNA fragments were visualized on an agarose gel and the order of the nucleotides in the template DNA strand was deduced by the size of the fragments in four lanes (176). Improvements were subsequently made, including radioactive labelling of dideoxynucleotides, which enabled the use of one reaction instead of four, and partly automated sequencing (177). Sanger sequencing was used to generate the first whole-genome sequence of the bacterium *Haemophilus influenza* (178) and also the first draft sequences of a human genome in 2001 (179). However, the laborious and costly nature of Sanger sequencing prevented its large-scale use for complete genomes and thus, next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies (also known as deep sequencing, high throughput sequencing or massively parallel DNA sequencing) were developed (179).

The most important NGS techniques can be divided into two wide categories, those that rely on amplified DNA libraries of the template and those that do not require amplification but can determine the nucleotide sequence of a single DNA molecule (180). The sequencing equipment can also be divided into high-end and bench top sequencers based on the speed and number of bacterial genomes sequenced in one run (180, 181).

In amplification-based sequencing, the template DNA is first isolated in sufficient quantity, fragmented with a variety of methods in fragments of suitable length, tagged with adaptors

and amplified on a solid surface to enable large-scale parallel sequencing (180, 182). All of the amplification-based sequencing methods rely on sequencing by synthesis or sequencing by ligation principle, but vary in technical details (180, 183). For example, the Illumina Solexa technology (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) is based on reversible termination of elongation in which terminator nucleotides with fluorescent labels emitting at different wavelengths are perfused across the sequencing cell and the resulting signals are imaged. The terminator dye is then enzymatically cleaved to allow insertion of the next nucleotide ((180), www.illumina.com). Sometimes it is challenging to discriminate the A and C signals as well as the G and T signals due to similar emission spectra of the fluorophores, and base substitution is the main error type in this technology (182, 184). The Ion Torrent (Life Technologies Corporation, Grand Island, NY, USA) technology is based on adding only one kind of nucleotide at a time on the template, and the signal (a hydrogen ion) is detected when insertion occurs (180). As all of these technologies have weaknesses, sequence quality should always be assessed considering also the sequencing technology used (182, 183).

In the newest technologies sequencing is performed on single DNA molecule templates without an amplification step (180). In 2012, a new single DNA molecule sequencing technology based on feeding the template (unamplified) DNA through protein nanopores was introduced, and a complete *E. coli* genome was assembled *de novo* (see next section) using only data generated by the nanopore technology in 2015 (180, 183, 185).

The challenge of NGS is in the handling and storing of the large amount of information generated. The sequence data, also known as reads, can vary in size from less than one hundred bases to several kilobases, depending on the technology used (183). These reads need to be assembled into longer continuous DNA sequences, called contigs, and two different approaches are used in assembly. Reads can be mapped to a known reference genome or assembly can be performed without a reference, also called *de novo* assembly (180). The *de novo* fragment assembly can be described as the problem of reconstructing a DNA string from its *k*-mers and different mathematical approaches are used in solving it (186-188). Thousands of assembly algorithms have been written and many assemblers exist, such as ABySS (Assembly By Short Sequences) (189), MIRA (Mimicking Intelligent Read Assembly), SPAdes (188) or Velvet (190). All of these are optimized for reads generated by certain sequencing technologies, performing reference-based or *de novo* assemblies or both (183).

After assembly of reads into contigs, annotation can be performed using a variety of programs, such as a free online tool, the RAST (Rapid Annotation using Subsystem Technology) server (191). Automatic annotation is usually based on putative gene detection and function prediction by comparison with known genes in databases (187). The annotation process is far from flawless and may miss or wrongly annotate several hundred coding sequences (CDS), therefore requiring human input, also called manual curation (187). Since most genomes in public databases are annotated only automatically, the putative errors need to be taken into account when utilizing these resources.

# 2.9.2 Whole-genome sequencing approach in antimicrobial resistance research

NGS technologies provide a means of studying bacterial genomes in more detail and with higher resolution than ever before. In relation to antimicrobial resistance, sequence data can be utilized in, for example, studies of the epidemiology of resistant bacteria, as a basis for new antimicrobial

drug development or for surveillance of bacterial resistance rates based on well-characterized resistance-conferring genes and mutations, such as those in the QRDR region of *gyrA* in the case of fluoroquinolone-resistant *Campylobacter* (181, 192). Resistance gene databases have been set up to aid the screening of WGS data and enable mining for and recognition of putative or existent resistance-conferring genes (193, 194).

Also, considerable interest has been directed at the characterization of new resistance mechanisms and genes based on whole-genome sequencing. Several new resistance-conferring mutations, genes and multidrug resistance islands have been uncovered using NGS in many bacteria, including *Campylobacter* (14, 23, 195). For instance, Chen *et al.* (2013) (14) were able to find several novel aminoglycoside resistance genes located in MDR plasmids in *C. coli* using NGS. In addition, WGS has revealed many cryptic or potential resistance genes, e.g. those coding for proteins resembling aminoglycoside-modifying enzymes, embedded in the genomes of many pathogens (100). These cryptic genes have been called resistance precursors or proto-resistance elements and have been suggested to be included in to the antibiotic resistome (100, 115).

As NGS techniques have become increasingly affordable and more user-friendly data analysis tools are being developed, it seems likely that many laborious genotyping as well as phenotypic antimicrobial resistance screening methods will be replaced by NGS techniques in the near future (196). For example, analysis of WGS data for resistance associated-genes and mutations was found to be a highly accurate method for predicting antimicrobial resistance phenotypes in *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* (144). However, these methods are unlikely to completely replace traditional phenotypic methods due to the fact that resistance conferred by, for instance, increased activity of efflux pumps or a completely new mechanism would not be detected by studying only known genetic changes. Also, in many cases, the level of resistance cannot be precisely predicted using only genomic data.

# 3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aims of this thesis were to characterize the mechanisms of high and intermediate STR resistance in porcine *C. coli* and canine *C. upsaliensis* and to find putative connections between resistance to STR and macrolides in *C. coli*. Further, the occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in *Campylobacter* spp. from a set of dogs was investigated, and mutations associated with fluoroquinolone and macrolide resistance in *C. coli* and quinolone resistance in *C. upsaliensis* were studied.

Specific objectives were as follows:

- 1. To characterize the mechanism of high-level STR resistance in *C. coli* and to find potential connections between macrolide and STR resistance (I)
- 2. To investigate the mechanisms, origins and natural transformation capability of intermediate-level STR resistance in *C. coli* (III)
- 3. To analyse the effect of DANO and tylosin treatments of pigs on STR resistance in *C. coli* at farm level and to investigate the mutations associated with macrolide and fluoroquinolone resistance in *C. coli* with special attention to DANO-induced changes in QRDR of *gyrA* (II, III)
- 4. To characterize the potential STR and quinolone resistance-associated mutations in *C. upsaliensis* from dogs and to assess the occurrence of antimicrobial resistance among canine *Campylobacter* spp. (IV)

# 4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 4.1 Antimicrobial treatments and sampling scheme of animals

#### 4.1.1 Pigs

In Study I, the 17 STR- and/or ERY-resistant *C. coli* isolates originated from 15 pigs from two pig farms. At farm 1, tylosin was used for weaned piglets for the treatment of proliferative enteropathy caused by *Lawsonia intracellularis*, and occasionally penicillin, sulfadiazine-trimethoprim and aminopenicillin were used (detailed description of medications can be found in (27)). At farm 2, penicillin and sulfadiazine-trimethoprim were used if needed. No aminoglycoside treatments had been recorded from either farm at least for the past four years prior to the sampling.

In Study II, 27 piglets from farm 3 were included and part of the animals (group A, n=12 pigs) were treated intramuscularly (im) with DANO for three days at a dose of 3.3 mg/kg at 4-5 days at weaning due to diarrhoea caused by *E. coli* and tylosin in feed at a dose of 3-6 mg/kg for 10 days starting at 11 days after weaning, whereas the controls (group B=15 animals) received only tylosin without DANO treatment. Additionally, three piglets from both groups were treated with amoxicillin im before weaning. Pigs were sampled at six time points: before weaning (samplings II and III), after DANO medication of group A (samplings IV and V) and after tylosin treatment of both groups (sampling VI). The animals were reared in three pens, each containing animals from both groups.

### 4.1.2 Dogs

The 36 dogs in Study IV were Staffordshire bull terriers originating from a total of 30 households located in different parts of Southern Finland and aged between 1 and 12 years. They were sampled twice, before and at the end of a feeding period lasting 4-5 months and consisting of either raw feed or pelleted dry feed. No systemic antimicrobial treatments were recorded from the sampled dogs right before or between the samplings.

# 4.2 Isolation and cultivation of *Campylobacter* spp. and *E. coli*

*C. coli* strains (n=184) originated from five Finnish pig farms in Studies I – III. The strains were used in different studies as follows. In Study I, 17 isolates originating from farms 1 and 2 were used (primary STR-resistant isolates) to examine resistance-related mutations, and 13 isolates from five additional pig farms were used to make STR- and ERY-resistant *C. coli* variants *in vitro*. In Study II, *C. coli* isolates were collected during six samplings at farm 3 and 147 of them were tested for susceptibility to STR, ERY and CIP. Twenty-one of these isolates were characterized further by sequencing selected gene fragments and 133 were genotyped by restriction fragment length polymorphisms pulsed field gel electrophoresis (RFLP-PFGE). In Study III, 12 characterized isolates from Study II were whole genome sequenced. Additionally, 34 isolates originating from farms 1-3 (partly the same isolates used in Studies I and II) were screened by PCR for the presence of *ant*-like gene A in Study III. All *C. coli* were isolated from pig faecal samples taken from the rectum with cotton swabs (Propact, Technical Service Consultants Ltd., Heywood, UK) and cultivated on modified charcoal cefoperazone deoxycholate agar (mCCDA)

(CM739, Oxoid Ltd., Basingstoke, Hampshire, UK) with selective supplement (SR155, Oxoid Ltd.) with or without pre-enrichment in 5 ml of Bolton broth (CM983, Oxoid Ltd.). The *C. upsaliensis* and *C. jejuni* strains in Study IV were isolated from dog faeces as a three-day pooled sample and cultivated on mCCDA. Incubation was under microaerobic conditions (5%  $O_2$ , 10%  $CO_2$ , 85%  $N_2$  for *C. coli* and *C. jejuni* and 6%  $O_2$ , 10%  $CO_2$ , 5%  $H_2$ , 79%  $N_2$  for *C. upsaliensis* at 37 °C. The putative *Campylobacter* isolates were confirmed as *C. coli*, *C. jejuni* or *C. upsaliensis* with species-specific PCR (27, 197-199).

The *E. coli* NEB 5-alpha cells (New England Biolabs, Frankfurt, Germany) used in Study III were grown under normal atmospheric oxygen at 37 °C on Luria-Bertani (LB) plates (Difco, Sparks, MD, USA) supplemented with ampicillin (100 mg/l, Sigma-Aldrich, Stenheim, Germany) or chloramphenicol (33 mg/l, Sigma-Aldrich), as appropriate.

All isolates were stored frozen at -70°C in either skim milk or nutrient broth (NB, Oxoid Ltd.) with 15-20% glycerol. *C. coli*, *C. jejuni* and *C. upsaliensis* were further grown on Brucella or Nutrient agars (NBA, Oxoid Ltd.) supplemented with 5% blood (Labema, Kerava, Finland).

### 4.3 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

The agar dilution method (according to M31-A3 NCCLS, 2002 or M45-A CLSI, 2006) was used in all four studies (see the last paragraph for detailed description of susceptibility testing methods used in each study). Briefly, bacterial isolates were sub-cultivated twice overnight and suspended in Muller-Hinton Broth (MHB, Oxoid Ltd.) to make a suspension with turbidity corresponding to 0.5 McFarland standard. A multipoint inoculator was then used to inoculate Muller-Hinton agar plates (MHA, Oxoid Ltd.) supplemented with 5% blood with doubling concentrations of the desired antimicrobial. The plates were incubated microaerobically for 48 h at 37 °C, after which the results were read and MICs were recorded as the lowest concentration inhibiting all visible growth.

The broth microdilution method using VetMIC Camp (National Veterinary Institute, Uppsala, Sweden) microtitre plates was applied in Studies I and IV according to the procedure of the manufacturer. Briefly, after freezing, bacterial isolates were grown twice overnight, after which suspensions with turbidity corresponding to 0.5 McFarland standard were made and diluted to 1:1000 in cation-adjusted MHB (Difco, Becton-Dickinson and Company, Sparks, USA) supplemented with 5% lysed horse blood to yield suspensions containing approximately 10<sup>5</sup> cells. Due to the fastidious nature of some of the *C. upsaliensis* isolates, NB was used in place of cation-adjusted MHB in Study IV (30, 200). These bacterial suspensions were then inoculated in microtitre plates, which were incubated microaerobically for 48 h at 37 °C. The results were read under a magnifying lens with a lamp and MICs were recorded as the lowest concentration inhibiting all visible growth in a well.

The E-test method used in Study I was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions by preparing bacterial suspensions with turbidity corresponding to 0.5 McFarland standard and cotton swabs were used to spread suspension evenly on MHA plates. The agar was allowed to dry and then an E-test strip (Biomerieux-Suomi Oy, Helsinki, Finland) containing a concentration gradient of the desired antimicrobial was placed in the middle of the agar. The plates were incubated for 48 h at 37 °C microaerobically. MICs were recorded as the concentration at which the elliptical zone of no bacterial growth intersected with the strip.
For all susceptibility assays, *C. jejuni* reference strain ATCC 33560 was used as a control. The ECOFF values as determined by EUCAST (www.eucast.org) were applied for each species as appropriate. Since no ECOFFs have been determined for *C. upsaliensis*, those of *C. jejuni* were applied for this species.

In Study I, the preliminary antimicrobial susceptibility testing of *C. coli* was carried out with the broth microdilution method, and STR and ERY MICs were confirmed with E-tests or agar dilution. In Study II, susceptibility testing of *C. coli* isolates for STR (MP Biomedicals, Ill Cedex, France), CIP (Sigma-Aldrich) and ERY (Sigma-Aldrich) was performed with the agar dilution method. In Study III, MICs of *C. coli* for STR, CIP, ERY and spectinomycin (SPEC, Sigma-Aldrich) were determined with the agar dilution method. Additionally, STR susceptibility of selected transformant *E. coli* colonies was tested with the broth macrodilution method (CLSI M07-A9). In Study IV, the *C. upsaliensis* and *C. jejuni* isolates originating from 18 dogs were tested with the broth microdilution method, and STR MICs were confirmed with the agar dilution method.

#### 4.4 Selection of resistant variants by exposure to STR and ERY and efflux pump inhibition assay

In Study I, 13 *C. coli* isolates with STR MICs of 2-4 mg/l were cultivated successively on MH agars with 5% blood containing increasing concentrations of STR and 20 *in vitro* generated STR-resistant colonies isolated from plates containing 8, 32 or 64 mg/l STR were selected for further MIC analysis. In addition, two of these *in vitro* acquired STR-resistant variants as well as two STR-susceptible *C. coli* isolates were used for selection of ERY-resistant variants by cultivating in increasing concentrations of ERY.

The effect of efflux pump inhibitor phenyl-arginine- $\beta$ -naphthylamine (Pa $\beta$ N; Sigma-Aldrich) on STR MICs of 17 primary STR/ERY-resistant *C. coli* isolates in Study I was tested in two independent experiments using the agar dilution method. Briefly, bacterial isolates were grown on MHA plates containing 1-1024 mg/l STR with and without 50 mg/l Pa $\beta$ N and STR MICs were recorded after 48 h of microaerobic incubation at 37 °C. As a control, the isolates were also cultivated on plates containing 0.5-1024 mg/l ERY with and without 50 mg/l Pa $\beta$ N or only 50 mg/l Pa $\beta$ N.

# 4.5 DNA extraction, PCR, sequencing and sequence analysis of PCR products

Bacterial DNA was extracted with Pitcher's method (201) (Studies I and II) or using Wizard Genomic DNA purification kit (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) or Purelink Genomic DNA mini kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) (Studies I, III and IV). Plasmid DNA was extracted with E.Z.N.A Plasmid Mini Kit I (Omega Bio-Tek, Norcross, GA, USA) in Study I.

In Study I, the *rpsL*, *rsmG* (known as *gidB* at the time), *aadE*, 23S rRNA gene and two *rrs* gene fragments (500 and 900 regions) from 17 primary STR/ERY-resistant *C. coli* isolates and the *rpsL* and *aadE* gene fragments from 33 STR-resistant variants and their parental isolates were amplified and sequenced. In addition, the  $rrs_{500}$  fragments of five *C. coli* variants (1.1, 6.1, 10.1, 10.2 and 13.1, Table 6) were amplified and sequenced. In Study II, *rplV*, *gyrA* and 23S rRNA gene fragments were amplified and sequenced from 19 and the *rplD* gene fragments from 12 *C*.

*coli* isolates. The sequences of *rplV* and *rplD* of the 12 whole-genome sequenced *C. coli* isolates in Study III were later confirmed with WGS data (see below). In Study III, the presence of *ant*-like gene A fragment was investigated from 34 *C. coli* isolates with STR MICs between 4 and >1024 mg/l using primers ccoliaadE-Fw and ccoliaadE-Rw. The *gyrA* gene fragment in Study II was amplified with primers described in (202). The other aforementioned primers used in Studies I-III are listed in Table 4.

Sequencing of amplified DNA fragments in Studies I and II was carried out at the Institute of Biotechnology, University of Helsinki, using Sanger sequencing with automated cycle sequencer with Big Dye Terminator<sup>®</sup> chemistry (PE Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA).

The sequence data were analysed using the Staden Package (http://staden.sourceforge. net/) and Bionumerics version 5.10 (Applied Maths NV, Sint-Martens-Latem, Belgium), and sequence quality was assessed with FinchTV (Geospiza Inc., Seattle, WA, USA). Consensus sequence alignment of Sanger-sequenced gene fragments was performed in ClustalW (EMBL-EBI, Cambridge, UK).

Study	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Target gene (protein)	reference genome	Reference
	rrsF	cgcacgggtgagtaaggtat	rrs (16s rRNA 500 region)	RM2228	Study I
	$rrsR_{500}$	tcgcaatgggtattcttggt	1		
I	$\mathrm{rrsF}_{900}$	ggggagcaaacaggattaga	rrs (16s rRNA, 900 region)	RM2228	Study I
	$\mathrm{rrsR}_{900}$	aacaatccgaactgggacat			
I	gidBF	gggcatttactttgaatttgga	rsmG (RsmG)	RM2228	Study I
	gidBR	cacgcttgtgcctttaaagc			
I	rpsLF1	ccagcgcttaaaaattgtcc	rpsL (S12)	RM2228	Study I
	rpsLR1	tatcaagagcaccacgaacg			
I	aadEF Full	atgagatcagaaaaggaagtttat	aadE	pCG8245, ORF2	Study I
	aadER Full	ttattgttatcatcttcaatgcc			
I, II	ERY23SRNA-F2	aattgatggggttagcattagc	23S rRNA	RM2228	(27)
	ERY23SRNA-R2	caacaatggctcatatacaactgg			
II	CcrplV F	aggccataaaggttctgtgc	<i>rplV</i> (L22)	RM2228	Study II
	CcrplV R	aaccatcttgattcccagtttc			
II	CcrplD F	aatggtgccatgggtaaaat	rplD (L4)	NCTC 11168	Study II
	CcrpID R	caccttgctcttgcaaattc			
II	CcrplD F5	ccaggtcgtgttcaaccag	rplD (L4)	NCTC 11168	Study II
	CcrplD R3	agctctttcaagcgccaat			
III	ccoliaadE-Fw	gccttgttacacttgaaggc	ant-like gene A (fragment)	C. coli 47.4 peg1084	Study III
	ccoliaadE-Rw	gtgtgtgatgctaaatggggc			
III	aadE-A-AF-KpnI	aggtaccgttgcattataaaatataaggtaacaaagcttgc	<i>ant</i> -like gene A	C. coli 47.4	Study III
	aadE-A-AR-PstI	atctgcagcaagcataaagattaagataaagctagaaagg			
III	aadE-A-IF-BamHI	aggatcctggttaaatcaagcctcactccactttc	Inv PCR of pUC119-ant(6)	C. coli 47.4 peg1084	Study III
	aadE-A-IR-SalI	accgtcgaccacactattccaaaagccccatttagc			
III	ant60-A-AF-KpnI	aggtaccgcgtggcggcggctaaattcaaagg	<i>ant</i> -like gene B	C. <i>jejuni</i> FB01514	Study III
	ant60-A-AR-PstI	atctgcaggcaaaattaaacatggtgcataagtgaagtag			

Table 4. Primers used in studies I-III.

#### 4.6 RFLP-PFGE typing

In Study II, RFLP-PFGE typing of 133 isolates originating from 12 pigs from group A and 12 pigs from group B was performed as described previously (27) using SmaI with or without additional digestion with KpnI. The banding patterns were analysed with the software Bionumerics and isolates with similarity less than 90% in the dendrogram or a minimum difference of one band were classified as different genotypes.

### 4.7 Whole-genome sequencing, assembly and annotation

In Studies III and IV, WGS was performed for 12 *C. coli* isolates from pigs and for 24 *C. upsaliensis* and two *C. jejuni* isolates from dogs, respectively. Further, in Study III, two *C. coli* natural transformants and a spontaneous mutant were also whole-genome-sequenced. Draft whole-genome sequences were determined using Illumina Miseq or Hiseq technology (Nextera XT library paired end kit) at the Institute for Molecular Medicine (FIMM) Technology Centre, University of Helsinki. The paired end reads were assembled into contigs using Spades 3.1.1 or 3.2.0 (188). Genomes were annotated in RAST (191) and analysed with whole-genome multilocus sequence typing (wg-MLST) using genome profiler, GEP (203).

The sequences of *gyrA*, *rsmG*, *rpsL* and *rrs* of *C. upsaliensis* in Study IV were BLASTsearched, translated in EMBOSS Transeq (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/st/emboss\_transeq/) and aligned in MUSCLE (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/muscle/). The sequences were compared with that of *C. upsaliensis* RM3195, known to be susceptible to STR and resistant to NAL, but with no quinolone resistance-associated mutations in *gyrA* (29).

Homologues of putative STR resistance genes in the three intermediately STR-resistant whole-genome-sequenced *C. coli* in Study III and the 24 *C. upsaliensis* in Study IV were BLAST-searched using known sequences of these genes. Further, for this thesis, using WGS data, the sequences of *rplV* and *rplD* of 12 whole-genome-sequenced *C. coli* isolates were confirmed and the *rsmG* sequences of the same 12 *C. coli* were evaluated.

#### 4.8 Screening, evolutionary analysis and enzyme modelling of *Campylobacter ant*-like gene A

In Study III, the presence of *Campylobacter ant*-like gene A was screened by PCR with the primers ccoliaadE-Fw and ccoliaadE-Rw from 34 *C. coli* isolates originating from farms 1-3 and having variable STR MICs. In addition, whole-genome sequences of  $\approx$ 500 Finnish *C. jejuni* strains from several sources sequenced in other projects (204-206) were screened *in silico* for orthologues of *ant*-like gene A (peg 1084 from *C. coli* 47.4) using 40% cut-off value of the BLAST score ratio (207).

Altogether, 130 homologous sequences of *ant*-like gene A product were retrieved from NCBI nr database with blastX (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov). These sequences were aligned using MAFFT (208), and evolutionary history was inferred in MEGA5.3 (209) using the Minimum Evolutionary Method (210). The resulting consensus tree was condensed at 95% bootstrap values and edited in iTOL web server (211).

Structural models of the ANT-like proteins A and B from *C. coli* 47.4 and *C. jejuni* 12xb\_914 in Study III were built in the fully automated PHYRE2 server (212, 213), and catalytic site detection and conservation analysis were performed with Phyre2 investigator (213) using the ANT(6) from *Bacillus subtilis* as a reference structure.

# 4.9 Expression of *ant*-like genes in *E. coli* and construction of 47.4Δant(A)::CAT mutant

Expression of *ant*-like genes A and B in *E. coli* and construction of 47.4\(\Delta\)nt(A)::CAT (Study III) have been schematically represented in Fig. 6. The ant-like genes A and B with putative promotor regions were first amplified by PCR with primers aadE-A-AF-KpnI and aadE-A-AR-PstI (C. coli 47.4) or ant60-A-AF-KpnI and ant60-A-AR-PstI (C. jejuni FB01514), respectively (Table 4), which also introduced restriction sites at each end. Each gene was then cloned into plasmid pUC119 to create pUC119antA or pUC119antB and transformed into chemically competent E. coli grown on LBA (Luria-Bertani agar) with 100 mg/l ampicillin. Positive transformants with plasmid containing the correct insert were confirmed by colony PCR with primers CcoliaadE-Fw and Ccoli-aadE-Rw (gene A) or by detecting correctly sized fragments after restriction-digestion with KpnI and PstI (gene B). Selected transformants were then tested for STR susceptibility by broth dilution (CLSI M07-A9). The amplified pUC119-ant(A) was isolated and used as a template for inverse PCR using primers aadE-A-IF-BamHI and aadE-A-IR-SalI (Table 4), creating linear DNA with restriction sites, and the CAT (chloramphenicol acetyltransferase) cassette with the same restriction sites was then ligated into this plasmid to obtain closed pUC119∆ant(A)::CAT. This construct was amplified in E. coli grown on LBA with 33 mg/l chloramphenicol and introduced as a suicide plasmid into electrocompetent C. coli 47.4. With C. coli replication, the construct was inserted into the genome by homologous recombination and mutants were selected on NBA supplemented with  $12.5 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$  chloramphenicol.

### 4.10 Natural transformation assays

In Study III, the natural transformability of the *Campylobacter ant*-like gene A was investigated. *C. coli* strain 18.3, susceptible to STR, was used as a recipient and DNA from *C. coli* isolate 47.4 was used as a donor in the natural transformation assays modified from previous studies (214, 215). Briefly, the recipients were incubated overnight in 2 ml of NB and the optical density  $(OD_{600})$  was subsequently adjusted to 0.2 and 500 µl of adjusted suspension was added to test tubes containing NBA with a slanted surface. The tubes were incubated for three hours at 37 °C microaerobically and subsequently 2 µg of donor DNA diluted in a 10 µl volume was added to the recipient. The same volume of peptone water was added to the control tube to account for spontaneous mutations. Incubation was continued for three hours (one replication cycle), and bacterial suspensions were then cultivated on NBA containing 64 or 32 mg/l STR. The STR MICs and the presence of *ant*-like gene A were studied from selected transformants and spontaneous mutants by PCR using primers CcoliaadE-Fw and CcoliaadE-Rw (Table 4). Further, two natural transformants and a spontaneous mutant were whole-genome-sequenced as described above and analysed using wgMLST (GeP).





## 4.11 Statistical analyses

SPSS for Windows, Rel. 15.0.1. (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for statistical analyses. Fischer's exact test or Chi-squared test was used to test for statistically significant differences (P<0.05) in the prevalence of resistance among *C. coli* isolates between samplings and groups in Study II.

# 5 **RESULTS**

# 5.1 Characterization of antimicrobial resistance of porcine *C. coli* (I-III)

## 5.1.1 STR resistance-associated mutations in rpsL (I-III)

All analysed highly STR-resistant (MIC>1024 mg/l) *C. coli* isolates from pigs in Studies I-III (n=15) had A128G missense mutation in *rpsL*, leading to predicted K43R (Lysine43Arginine) substitution in ribosomal protein S12, but none of the studied eight STR-susceptible or of the six intermediately STR resistant (MIC 128-512 mg/l) *C. coli* had resistance associated mutations in codons 43 or 88 of *rpsL* (Table 5). No other nonsynonymous mutations were detected in the sequenced fractions of *rpsL*.

				MIC (mg/l)		S1.	2		23S rRNA <sup>2</sup>		I	GyrA
Study	Isolate <sup>1</sup>	Farm	STR	ERY	CIP	Codon 43	Codon 88	<i>ant-</i> like gene A	Base2122	$L4^3$	$L22^{5}$	codon 86
I,III	17	2	128	1	NA	K	К	+	А	NA	NA	NA
	18	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	К	NA	G	NA	NA	NA
	20	2	128	1	NA	K	K	+	А	NA	NA	NA
	21	2	128	1	NA	K	К	+	А	NA	NA	NA
	22	1	1	>1024	NA	K	K	NA	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	36	1	1	>1024	NA	K	K	ı	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	38	1	1	512	NA	K	K	NA	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	39	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	K	ı	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	44	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	K	NA	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	75	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	K	NA	Ċ	NA	NA	NA
	76	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	K	NA	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	80	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	К	ı	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	81	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	К	NA	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	82	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	К	NA	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	83	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	К	ı	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	84	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	К	NA	IJ	NA	NA	NA
	85	1	>1024	>1024	NA	R	К	·	IJ	NA	NA	NA
III, III	10.4	б	4	1	≤0.125	NA	NA	NA	А	V196A	1	Т
	17.3	б	4	0.5	≤0.125	NA	NA	NA	А	NA	2	Т
	18.3	ε	4	0.25	≤0.125	K	K	I	Α	V121A, V176I, T177S, V184I, M192I, V196A	7	Ц
	31.1	б	4	1	≤0.125	NA	NA	NA	А	V196A	1	Τ
	42.1	с	4	2	0.25	K	К	I	А	V196A	Ţ	Τ

 Table 5. Continued

				MIC (mg/l)		.10	1					VILD
Study	Isolate <sup>1</sup>	Farm	STR	ERY	CIP	Codon 43	Codon 88	<i>ant</i> -like gene A	Base2122	$-14^3$	$L22^{5}$	codon 86
II, III	47.4	ε	256	16	0.5	K	K	+	A	V121A, V176I, T177S, V184I, M192I, V196A	5	H
	51.3	б	4	4	0.25	К	К	·	А	V196A	1	Τ
	66.4	ŝ	>1024	32	32	R	K	ı	А	P28S, V196A	1	Ι
	67.3	б	4	1	$\leq 0.125$	К	К	ı	А	V196A	1	Τ
	72.1	б	4	8	$\leq 0.125$	NA	NA	NA	А	NA	2	Τ
	87.3	ŝ	4	1	$\leq 0.125$	NA	NA	NA	А	V196A	1	Т
	88.3	ŝ	>1024	16	0.5	R	K	ı	А	P28S, V196A	1	Т
	94.3	ю	>1024	16	32	NA	NA	NA	А	P28S, V196A	1	Ι
	107.3	ю	4	16	0.25	K	K	ı	A	V121A, V176I, T177S, V184I, M192I, V196A	7	Τ
	111.3	Э	>1024	16	0.5	R	К	·	А	P28S, V196A	1	Т
	115.3	б	>1024	32	0.5	NA	NA	NA	А	P28S, V196A	1	Т
	121.1	б	>1024	32	32	R	К	ı	Α	P28S, V196A	1	Ι
	150.1	ю	256	>512	128	K	K	+	IJ	V121A, V176I, T177S, V184I, M192I, V196A	7	Ι
	153.3	б	512	16	32	NA	NA	+	А	NA	2	Ι
	154.3	Э	512	16	32	K	K	+	A	V121A, V176I, T177S, V184I, M192I, V196A	7	Ι
	160.3	ю	4	>512	128	NA	NA	NA	IJ	NA	2	I
A: not an olded if y coli RM 4 predict	lalysed whole-genc [2228 numl ed amino a ted acid se	ome seque sering, the rcid seque quences c	nced e number of nces compa ompared wi	mutated co red with L4 th L22 of C.	pies of 23S rR of C. jejumi N jejuni NCTC	NA genes ha CTC11168 11168; 1=16	ıs not been aı 5V, A74G, S1	aalysed .09T, E111A, <sup>*</sup>	T114A, T120P, T	121V, T122K, A124T,	P125S, A1	26T, T129V,

Results

45

The *in vitro*-generated STR resistant variants in Study I had more heterogeneous STR MICs and mutations in *rpsL*, but A128G being also the most frequently detected (n=9) followed by A263G (K88R, n=4, Table 6). Together these two transitions covered 65% of all detected mutations. In addition, transversion A262C (K88Q, Lysine88Glutamine) was detected in one highly STR-resistant mutant and transition A262G (K88E, Lysine88Glutamic acid) in two variants with STR MICs of 32 mg/l and >1024 mg/l. Altogether three *in vitro*-generated variants with STR MICs 32-128 mg/l had no change in either codon. However, variants 1.1, 6.1 and 6.2 and variants 10.2, 11.1 and 12.1 had nonsynonymous mutation A256G or G257A in *rpsL* leading to substitutions R86G (Arginine86Glysine) and R86K (Arginine86Lysine) in S12, respectively (previously unpublished). Further, in Study III, the spontaneous *rpsL* mutant *C. coli* A.2 acquired in the natural transformation experiments and having STR MIC >1024 mg/l was found to harbour both A128C and A129T transversions in *rpsL*, resulting in K43T (Lysine43Threonine) change in S12 (not shown).

		MIC	(mg/l)	S1	21
Study	Isolate <sup>1</sup>	STR	ERY	Codon 43	Codon 88
Ι	1.1	32	0.25	K	K
	1.2	>1024	0.25	K	R
	2.1	>1024	≤0.063	K	R
	2.2	>1024	≤0.063	K	R
	3.1	>1024	≤0.063	К	R
	4.1	>1024	0.25	R	Κ
	5.1	>1024	0.125	К	E
	6.1	64	0.25	К	Κ
	6.2	>1024	0.25	К	Q
	7.1	>1024	0.25	R	Κ
	8.1	>1024	0.5	R	Κ
	8.2	>1024	2	R	Κ
	8.3	>1024	1	R	Κ
	9.1	>1024	4	R	Κ
	9.2	>1024	4	R	Κ
	10.1	4	1	К	Κ
	10.2	128	4	К	Κ
	11.1	>1024	4	R	Κ
	12.1	>1024	0.5	R	Κ
	13.1	32	0.5	К	Е

Table 6. MICs and changes in codons 43 and 88 of S12 of in vitro STR resistant C. coli variants.

<sup>1</sup>K: Lysine, R: Arginine, E: Glutamic acid, Q: Glutamine

#### 5.1.2 Other STR resistance-associated mutations studied in C. coli (I, III)

In Study I, no mutations in the *rpsL* codon 43 and 88 were detected in three intermediately STRresistant isolates from pigs and in the three *in vitro*-generated *C. coli* variants, also intermediately STR-resistant, so additional genes were screened. However, no truncation in *rsmG* or previously described resistance-associated mutations in the 500 or 900 regions of *rrs* gene were detected as compared with susceptible isolates and *C. coli* RM2228, and no gene product was obtained with the primers aadEF Full and aadER Full (Table 4) from the 17 STR- and/or ERY-resistant *C. coli* isolates from pigs from farms 1 and 2 (Table 5). Also, no PCR product was obtained with the aforementioned primers from the plasmid or chromosomal DNA of any of the *in vitro* STRresistant variants and no mutations were seen in the sequenced 500-region of the *rrs* gene in the five *in vitro*-generated intermediately STR resistant variants as compared with their susceptible parent isolates. The sequences of *rsmG* were additionally analysed from the 12 whole-genomesequenced *C. coli* from Study III (bolded in Table 5). Also among these isolates, identical sequences were found regardless of the resistance level.

#### 5.1.3 Mechanism and occurrence of intermediate STR resistance (III)

#### 5.1.3.1 Occurrence and location of ant-like genes A and B

Twelve *C. coli* isolates with various STR resistance levels from farm 3 were whole-genomesequenced (bolded in Table 5). Each of the three isolates exhibiting intermediate-level resistance to STR (MIC 256-512 mg/l) was found to harbour an *ant*(*6*)-resembling gene (referred as *ant*like gene A) encoding a putative adenylyltransferase. The presence of this gene (peg1084 of *C. coli* 47.4) was further screened by PCR from 34 *C. coli* isolates originating from farms 1-3. All isolates with an intermediate level of STR resistance (n=10, originating from farms 2 and 3) yielded the right-sized amplicon. These included also isolates 17, 20 and 21 from farm 2 (Table 5), which had yielded a negative result with primers aadEF Full and aadER Full in Study I (Table 4).

Additionally, a 60% homologue of *ant*-like gene A (referred as *ant*-like gene B) was detected in 19 ( $\approx$ 4%) of the *in silico* screened genome sequences of *C. jejuni* isolates from our strain collection, but the presence of this homologue was not associated with STR resistance. Both genes, encoding ANT-like protein A in *C. coli* and protein B in *C. jejuni*, were located in a similar position in the chromosome corresponding to hypervariable region 14 described in *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168, which contains also a restriction-modification locus and genes encoding oxidoreductases, hydrolases, dehydrogenases and decarboxylases, among others (56).

The WGS data of twelve *C. coli* isolates from farm 3 (Table 5) were analysed with wgMLST. The three isolates harbouring *ant*-like A gene were two different strains as >1000 allelic differences were detected in wgMLST while the four highly STR-resistant isolates clustered together, forming a single strain.

#### 5.1.3.2 Evolutionary analysis of ant-like gene A and enzyme modelling

A cladogram was built using the 130 closest homologues of *ant*-like gene A (peg 1084 of *C. coli* 47.4) retrieved from NCBI nr database with BlastX (see Study III, Fig. 3). The ANT-like protein A was found in a monophyletic clade, and it was detected solely in *C. coli* strains originating from several countries and hosts. The countries included the UK, Switzerland and the United States, and hosts and sources were ducks, chickens, pigs, environment and humans. A sister clade was found to include proteins similar to ANT-like protein B, and they were found in both *C. jejuni* and

*C. coli*. Several aminoglycoside 6-adenylyltransferase homologs described in *Campylobacter* spp. in previous studies were located in a polychotomous clade together with homologous proteins originating from Gram-positive bacterial species, including *Streptococcus* spp., *Enterococcus* spp., *Bacillus* spp. and *Clostridium* spp. Both ANT-like proteins A and B resembled the structure of aminoglycoside 6-adenylyltransferase from *B. subtilis* (accession PDB:2PBE) and lincosamide adenylyltransferase LinB from *Staphylococcus aureus* (115), albeit with a low amino acid identity. Further, the ANT-like protein A was found to share only low (<40%) amino acid identity and blast score ratios (0.11-0.24) with the previously described adenylyltransferases.

#### 5.1.3.3 47.4 $\Delta$ antA::CAT constructs and expression of ant-like genes in E. coli

The *ant*-like genes A and B were expressed in *E. coli* and STR MICs of *E. coli* isolates harbouring plasmid pUC119-antA (n=7) were found to increase 4- or >8-fold (16 $\rightarrow$ 64->128 mg/l), but no change in STR MIC was seen in *E. coli* harbouring pUC119-antB. The studied knock-out mutant colonies (n=14) of *C. coli* 47.4 with CAT cassette inserted in *ant*-like gene A (Fig. 7) showed a 64-fold decrease in STR MIC (256 $\rightarrow$ 4 mg/l). No changes in the MICs for SPEC, CIP or ERY were observed in studied mutants as compared with the WT *C. coli* 47.4.

#### 5.1.3.4 Natural transformation assays

Two and 113 natural transformants were obtained from STR-susceptible *C. coli* recipient 18.3 (MIC STR 4 mg/l) in assays using 64 and 32 mg/l of STR for selection, respectively, and all tested transformants (n=9) were intermediately resistant to STR (MIC 64-512 mg/l). Altogether, one and three spontaneous mutants were generated in the same experiments, respectively, all having STR MICs >1024 mg/l. The genomes of two natural transformants and a spontaneous mutant were sequenced and analysed using wgMLST (GeP) with the genome of *C. coli* 47.4 used as a reference. The genetic exchange detected in the natural transformants as compared with the donor (47.4) and recipient (18.3) has been summarized in Tables 7 and 8. In both transformants, several genes in addition to *ant*-like gene A were found to be transferred from the donor, including also regions outside of the hypervariable region 14. A total of 24 genes in 8 regions and 18 genes in 5 regions were found to transfer from the donor to the recipient in A+.1 and A+.2, respectively.

Donor 47.4 <sup>1</sup>	Recipient 18.3 <sup>1</sup>	$A+.1^{1}$	peg <sup>2</sup>	Annotation <sup>3</sup>
1	2	1	121	FIG00469778: hypothetical protein
1	2	1	122	FIG00469817: hypothetical protein
1	2	3	128	L-lactate permease
1	Т	1	135	Uracil-DNA glycosylase, family 1
1	2	3	157	FIG00470444: hypothetical protein
1	2	1	304	ATP-dependent Clp protease adaptor protein ClpS
1	2	1	305	Possible periplasmic thioredoxin
1	2	1	306	tmRNA-binding protein SmpB
1	2	1	307	4-diphosphocytidyl-2-C-methyl-D-erythritol kinase (EC 2.7.1.148)
1	2	D	874	hypothetical protein
1	2	1	901	Gene SCO4494, often clustered with genes in menaquinone via futalosine pathway
1	2	1	904	putative periplasmic protein (vacJ homolog)
1	2	1	906	membrane protein
1	2	3	1082	sarcosine oxidase, putative
1	М	1	1083	NAD(P)H oxidoreductase YRKL (EC 1.6.99)
1	М	1	1084	ant-like gene A
1	М	1	1085	RecD-like DNA helicase YrrC
1	Т	1	1086	Uncharacterized conserved protein
1	М	1	1087	Dienelactone hydrolase and related enzymes
1	М	1	1088	oxidoreductase of aldo/keto reductase family, subgroup 1
1	М	1	1089	transporter, putative
1	М	1	1090	conserved protein
1	2	1	1091	Arsenical resistance operon repressor
1	2	1	1092	Arsenate reductase (EC 1.20.4.1)

**Table 7.** Genetic flow observed in the *C. coli* natural transformant A+.1 in GeP analysis.

<sup>1</sup>Allele type; 1= donor, 2= recipient, 3= new, M= missing, T= truncated, D= doubled (203) <sup>2</sup>Peg numbering according to the genome of 47.4.gbk used as a reference

<sup>3</sup>Annotation in RAST (191)

Donor 47.4	Recipient 18.3 <sup>1</sup>	A+.2 <sup>1</sup>	peg <sup>2</sup>	Annotation <sup>3</sup>
1	Т	1	135	Uracil-DNA glycosylase, family 1
1	2	Т	185	Ribbon-helix-helix protein, copG family domain protein
1	2	D	874	hypothetical protein
1	2	1	1079	MloA protein, putative
1	2	1	1080	Type I restriction-modification system, DNA- methyltransferase subunit M (EC 2.1.1.72)
1	2	1	1081	hypothetical protein
1	2	4	1082	sarcosine oxidase, putative
1	М	1	1083	NAD(P)H oxidoreductase YRKL (EC 1.6.99)
1	М	1	1084	<i>ant</i> -like gene A
1	М	1	1085	RecD-like DNA helicase YrrC
1	Т	1	1086	Uncharacterized conserved protein
1	М	1	1087	Dienelactone hydrolase and related enzymes
1	М	1	1088	oxidoreductase of aldo/keto reductase family, subgroup 1
1	М	1	1089	transporter, putative
1	М	1	1090	conserved protein
1	2	1	1091	Arsenical resistance operon repressor
1	2	1	1092	Arsenate reductase (EC 1.20.4.1)
1	2	1	1571	Methionyl-tRNA synthetase (EC 6.1.1.10)

Table 8. Genetic flow observed in the C. coli natural transformant A+.2 in GeP analysis.

<sup>1</sup>Allele type; 1= donor, 2= recipient, 4= new, M= missing, T= truncated, D= doubled (203) <sup>2</sup>Peg numbering according to the genome of 47.4.gbk used as a reference <sup>3</sup>Annotation in RAST (191)

#### 5.1.4 Mutations associated with ERY and CIP resistance (I, II)

All of the studied *C. coli* isolates highly resistant to ERY (MIC $\geq$ 512 mg/l, n=16) had A2122G mutation in the 23S rRNA encoding gene, but this mutation was not detected in the low-level resistant isolates (ERY MIC 16-32 mg/l, n=11) (Table 5). Further, in Study II, no ERY resistance-associated mutations in the genes *rplV* (coding for ribosomal protein L22) and *rplD* (encoding ribosomal protein L4) were found, including analysed isolates with ERY MIC values of 16–32 mg/l (n=9) (Table 5).

All CIP resistant *C. coli* isolates (MIC 32-128 mg/l, n=7) from pigs from farm 3, where DANO was used, had a commonly described C257T mutation in *gyrA*, resulting in T86I substitution in DNA gyrase (Table 5).

#### 5.1.5 Associations between STR and ERY resistance (I)

As a statistically significant increase was seen in the number of STR resistant isolates after tylosin treatment of pigs in a previous farm study (27) the putative associations were examined in Study

I. The STR MIC of an initially STR-susceptible *C. coli* isolate did not increase with exposure to increasing concentrations of ERY even when the generated variants were resistant to ERY (MIC>256 mg/l) and no increase in ERY MICs were observed in the *in vitro*-generated STR-resistant variants. No differences in the STR MICs of the primary STR- and/or ERY-resistant *C. coli* isolates (n=17) were seen with or without the efflux pump inhibitor Pa $\beta$ N, while the ERY MICs decreased on average fourfold.

# 5.1.6 Dynamics of STR resistance in C. coli after DANO and tylosin treatments (II, III)

The occurrence of STR resistance was monitored along with resistance to CIP and ERY of 147 *C. coli* isolates in Study II (published as supplemental material in Study III) as pigs were treated consecutively with DANO (group A, n=12 animals) and tylosin (groups A+B, in group B, n=15 animals). The results are summarized in Table 9. Differing from EUCAST ECOFFs, isolates with STR MIC of 8 mg/l were classified as susceptible since a clear division was observed with *C. coli* isolates having STR MICs of either 4-8 mg/l or  $\geq$ 256 mg/l in this and in our previous study (27).

While no STR resistance was detected among *C. coli* isolated before weaning (sampling I, n=22), a common resistance pattern already after weaning (samplings II and III) was STR resistance (12/48, 25%). The occurrence of STR-resistant isolates increased after DANO treatment (samplings IV and V) in the group A (n=16/22, 73% P<0.01), and the proportion of these isolates was higher in group A than in group B (n=9/28, 32%, P<0.01). After tylosin treatment (sampling VI) the proportion of STR-resistant isolates decreased in group A (P<0.05) while no statistically significant change was seen in group B or between the groups (Table 9).

Comulin a	Pig					No. o	f isola	tes wi	th MIC	(mg/l)	of:		No. (%) of
Sampling	group <sup>a</sup>	1	2	4	8	16	32	64	128	256	512	≥1024	resistant isolates
Ι	А			8	1								0 (0.0)
	В			9	4								0 (0.0)
II	А			6	2							1	1 (11.1)
	В			6	4					1	1	1	3 (23.1)
III <sup>b</sup>	А		1	4	2							4	4 (36.4)
	В			9	2					1		3	4 (26.7)
IV	А			1	1					1		8	9 (81.8)
	В			7	3							5	5 (33.3)
Vc	А				4							7	7 (63.6)
	В			6	3							4	4 (30.8)
VI	А			5	3							4	4 (33.3)
	В			5	4					1	3	2	6 (40.0)

Table 9. Distribution of STR MICs after DANO and tylosin treatments of pigs in Study II.

Vertical line indicates the breakpoint used in this study

<sup>a</sup>A, DANO-treated pigs; B, control pigs

<sup>b</sup>a three-day DANO treatment for group A after sampling III

<sup>c</sup>a ten-day tylosin treatment for group A and B after sampling V

In study II, RFLP-PFGE typing of 133 isolates originating from 12 pigs from group A and 12 pigs from group B was performed. Most of the STR-resistant isolates were also resistant to at least one other antimicrobial studied (CIP, ERY), and 29/41 (70%) of the genotyped STR-resistant isolates had the same PFGE type 1 which was always highly STR-resistant (MIC>512 mg/l), but isolates having this genotype had resistance patterns STR, STR-CIP or STR-CIP-ERY. While high-level STR resistance occurred also in another PFGE type, type 11 (n=5, exhibiting resistance patterns STR or STR-ERY), the intermediately STR-resistant isolates (MIC 256-512 mg/l, n=6) had three different genotypes, (PFGE: 2, STR-CIP; PFGE: 21, STR/STR-CIP; PFGE: 19, STR-CIP-ERY). High and intermediate level STR-resistant isolates were never found to have same PFGE-types.

# 5.2 Resistance in canine *C. upsaliensis* and *C. jejuni* strains (IV)

### 5.2.1 Occurrence of resistance

Antimicrobial resistance against STR, ERY, CIP, NAL, tetracycline and gentamicin of two *C. jejuni* and 24 *C. upsaliensis* isolates originating from 18 Finnish Staffordshire bull terriers was evaluated. Both *C. jejuni* isolates were susceptible to all the tested antimicrobials while, among *C. upsaliensis*, a high rate of STR resistance was observed with 19/24 isolates (79.2%) having MICs of > 4 mg/l (Table 10) and one isolate (4.2%) having increased MIC for NAL and CIP. Resistance against other antimicrobials was not detected in *C. upsaliensis*. Isolates that originated from the same dog in two consecutive samplings and had the same STs (DR15S and DR15S\_2; DR18S and DR18S\_2; DR44S and DR44S\_2; DR55S and DR55S\_2, Table 10) always had also the same STR MICs.

### 5.2.2 Mutations in STR and quinolone resistant C. upsaliensis

The amino acid changes corresponding to missense mutations in rpsL codons 43 and 88 and the observed deletions, insertions and truncation caused by frameshift mutations in C. upsaliensis rsmG are shown in Table 10. In all low- (MIC 16 mg/l, n=12) and high-level (MIC≥1024 mg/l, n=7) STR-resistant C. upsaliensis isolates, a missense mutation A263G in rpsL corresponding to amino acid change K88R was detected. In addition, in all highly STR-resistant isolates, various nucleotide deletions and insertions were seen in the sequence of *rsmG*, leading to frameshift and termination immediately downstream of the mutation site at amino acids 13, 49, 137, 139, 144 or 155 of the total of 191 amino acids of C. upsaliensis rsmG. All of these mutants also harboured A263G change in rpsL and had high STR MICs ( $\geq$ 1024 mg/l). Also some truncation of *rsmG* was observed in a part of the STR-susceptible and low-level resistant isolates, but only the last 3-5 amino acids were lost in these cases. In contrast, none of the STR-susceptible strains (MIC 0.5-2 mg/l, n=5) had STR resistanceassociated mutations in rpsL or a significant truncation of rsmG (Table 10). Moreover, several other nucleotide substitutions in rsmG as compared to the sequence of C. upsaliensis RM3195, leading to various amino acid substitutions in the predicted sequence of RsmG, were observed in all isolates regardless of the STR MIC-level. Further, no resistance-associated mutations in rrs were found and no other AME-encoding genes associated with STR resistance were detected in the C. upsaliensis annotated genomes to explain the observed resistance levels.

One *C. upsaliensis* isolate (DR22S, Table 10) with slightly elevated MIC for CIP and resistant to NAL had C257T transition on *gyrA* leading to T86M (Threonine86Methionine) change. Further, another isolate (DR5S, previously unpublished) not included in Study IV due to it originating from a dog sampled only once had similar levels of quinolone resistance and harboured the same mutation in *gyrA* and is therefore included in Table 10, but not in the occurrence analysis.

Results

Table 10. STR	and qu	inolone M	IICs and c	changes i	n S12, RsmG	and GyrA iı	ı C. upsaliensis.	
		V	/IC (mg/)		S1	12		GyrA
Isolate <sup>1</sup>	ST	STR	CIP	NAL	codon 43	codon 88	RsmG <sup>2</sup>	codon 86
DR5S <sup>3</sup>	138	>1024	0.5	>64	K	R	C415T → Q139STOP	Μ
DR9S	158	1024	≤0.12	7	K	R	insertion of nucleotide A at pos. $39 \rightarrow L13STOP$	Т
DR9S_2	159	16	≤0.12	4	K	R	deletion of nucleotides 558-572→deletion of 5 aa (187-191)	Ц
DR15S	160	16	≤0.12	4	К	R	No indels	П
DR15S_2	160	16	≤0.12	4	K	R	No indels	Ц
DR18S	160	16	≤0.12	4	K	R	No indels	Ц
DR18S_2	160	16	≤0.12	4	K	R	No indels	Ц
DR22S	165	>1024	1	>64	K	R	deletion of nucleotide T395→frameshift → M132R, A134Q, D1361, L137STOP	Μ
DR28S	166	0.5	0.12	8	К	K	deletion of nucleotides 558-572→deletion of 5 aa (187-191)	Т
DR36S_2	167	>1024	≤0.12	4	К	R	deletion of nucleotide T426 -> frameshift→L144STOP	Т
DR39S	169	0.5	≤0.12	8	K	K	deletion of nucleotides 561-569⇒deletion of 3 aa(188-190), 1191L, STOP: taa⇒tga	Т
$DR40S_2$	170	1024	0.25	8	K	R	deletion of nucleotide G139→frameshift→E47K, I48S, L49STOP	Τ
DR42S	171	16	≤0.12	$^{<1}$	К	R	No indels	Τ
DR44S	172	16	0.25	8	K	R	No indels	Τ
DR44S_2	172	16	0.25	4	K	R	No indels	Τ
DR45S_2	174	16	≤0.12	4	K	R	No indels	Τ
DR47S	166	0.5	≤0.12	4	K	К	deletion of nucleotides $558-572 \Rightarrow$ deletion of 5 aa (187-191)	Τ
DR48S	176	16	≤0.12	4	K	R	deletion of nucleotides 561-569→deletion of 3 aa (188-190)	Τ
DR53S_2	177	0.5	≤0.12	4	K	К	No indels	Τ
DR55S	178	16	≤0.12	4	К	R	deletion of nucleotides 561-569→deletion of 3 aa(188-190), 1191L, STOP: taa →tga	Т
DR558_2	178	16	≤0.12	4	K	R	deletion of nucleotides 561-569→deletion of 3 aa(188-190), 1191L, STOP: taa→tga	Т

 Table 10. continued

		V	AIC (mg/l		S1	12		GyrA
Isolate <sup>1</sup>	ST	STR	CIP	NAL	codon 43	codon 88	RsmG <sup>2</sup>	codon 86
DR56S	167	>1024	≤0.12	4	K	R	deletion of nucleotide T426→frameshift→L144STOP	H
DR59S	181	2	0.25	8	K	K	No indels	Τ
DR595_2	182	>1024	≤0.12	4	K	R	insertion of nucleotide C in pos 460→L154Y, K155STOP	Т
DR60S_2	182	>1024	≤0.12	4	K	R	insertion of nucleotide C in pos 460→L154Y, K155STOP	Τ
<sup>1</sup> DRXS indicat	es the m	umber of t	the anima	l, no suff	îx indicates t	hat the isolat	e was obtained in the first sampling whereas suffix _2 indicates sec	ond sampling.

<sup>2</sup> Sequences were compared with *C. upsaliensis* RM3195 (susceptible to streptomycin). <sup>3</sup>DR5S is a previously unpublished isolate not included in study IV or in the occurrence analysis due to it originating from a dog sampled only once during the feeding study. It is included in the table because of its quinolone resistance phenotype.

## 6 **DISCUSSION**

### 6.1 STR resistance in *C. coli* and *C. upsaliensis*

### 6.1.1 C. coli

We were the first to associate mutations in codons 43 and 88 (*C. coli* numbering) of the *rpsL* gene with STR resistance in *C. coli*, a finding concordant with previous findings in other bacterial species, such as *E. coli*, *M. tuberculosis* and *H. pylori* (122, 125, 126). This shared resistance mechanism between species is due to the unique way that streptomycin interacts with the bacterial 30S ribosomal structures and, unlike other aminoglycosides, makes contact also with the ribosomal protein S12 (63).

In our studies, mutation in *rpsL* leading to predicted substitution K43R in *C. coli* ribosomal protein S12 were associated with a high level of streptomycin resistance (MIC>1024 mg/l) and this was the only rpsL mutation detected in isolates from pigs. Mutations leading to other changes than K43R were observed only in the in vitro-generated C. coli variants and occurred mainly in codon 88, leading to more heterogeneous streptomycin MICs, as also described in E. coli and M. tuberculosis (122, 216, 217). The K88E substitution was detected in two variants with streptomycin MICs of 1024 and 32 mg/l. Similar observations have been made in M. tuberculosis in which K88R mutants were found to have STR MICs of 16, 256 and 1024 mg/l (217). This difference in MICs indicates that also other mechanisms could be involved in the higher level resistance phenotype, which could be, for example, mutations in rsmG. RsmG is a conserved methyltransferase that catalyses the methylation of G527 in 16S rRNA, a nucleotide that is in direct contact with STR (63, 127). Loss of function of RsmG has been shown to lead to a low level of STR resistance and to high rates of emergence of highly streptomycin-resistant mutants in several bacterial species including E. coli, Bacillus subtilis and M. tuberculosis, but having no effect on viability or growth rate (127, 128, 130). Observed resistance could be the result of reduced affinity of streptomycin to the unmethylated ribosome or increased translational accuracy (127, 128). Even though no truncation of rsmG was detected among the analysed isolates with various STR MICs from farms 1-3, the STR-resistant isolates harboured either ant-like gene A or mutation in *rpsL*, explaining their resistance level. The possibility that resistance-conferring mutations in this gene would not have been present in the *in vitro*-generated variants cannot be excluded and warrants further study. We also observed three in vitro-generated C. coli variants with streptomycin MICs of 32-128 mg/l which had no resistance-associated mutations in rpsL codons 43 or 88. However, they had nonsynonymous mutations not seen in their parent isolates leading to amino acid substitutions in codon 86, which could contribute to the intermediate streptomycin resistant phenotype.

Streptomycin resistance-conferring mutations in *rpsL* have been characterized as restrictive (increased translational accuracy through increased ribosomal binding affinity due to ribosomal conformation changes), such as K42/43T, and non-restrictive, the only known example being K42/43R (218-223). The restrictive type manifests as a hyper accurate phenotype, and consequently, a slower protein translation rate, leading to even STR dependence, whereas the non-restrictive phenotype does not differ significantly from the wild-type ribosomes in protein translation rate (221, 223, 224). We did not observe *rpsL* mutations classified as restrictive in isolates from pigs. Indeed, all mutations found in *C. coli* isolates highly resistant to streptomycin *in vivo* (e.g. from pigs) were of the non-restrictive type, which is not surprising. A small fitness

cost of the K42R (corresponding to K43R in *C. coli*) substitution *in vitro* has been reported in *E. coli*, but it was not seen when these isolates were inoculated into piglets (225). Further, in a mouse model even a minor fitness advantage was observed in *Salmonella* Typhimurium having K42R substitution in S12 as compared with the wild-type strain (226). However, also, *Salmonella* Typhimurium strains with mutation in *rpsL* leading to K42N substitution in S12 and restrictive phenotype, were found to develop compensatory mutations in a number of genes after several passages *in vitro*, and these mutations partially restored fitness (227). Similar results have also been observed in *E. coli* (219). Curiously, *S.* Typhimurium with K42N amino acid substitution in S12 was shown to grow faster than the wild type with poor carbon source conditions *in vitro* (228). Although there is one streptomycin-containing drug currently registered for use in piglets and calves in Finland, veterinary streptomycin consumption is at a low level, with annual sales of only slightly exceeding 100 kg (of active substance) (Table 2). The persistent presence of streptomycin-resistant *C. coli* strains at pig farms found in our studies could be a consequence of the *rpsL* mutation leading to K43R in S12 incurring no, low or an easily compensated fitness cost also in *C. coli*.

Interestingly, the K87/88E mutation has been associated with increased protein or antibiotic production rate in the late growth phase in *Streptomyces* spp. and *E. coli* which is suggested to be due to increased stability of the bacterial ribosome (218, 229, 230). Whether K88E substitution affects the late growth phase protein synthesis rates in *Campylobacter* spp. remains to be elucidated.

As several intermediately streptomycin-resistant C. coli isolates with no obvious resistanceconferring mutations or genes were detected in Studies I and II, we used the NGS approach to further examine the potential genetic mechanism(s). A novel streptomycin resistance-conferring gene, encoding a protein homologous to (albeit at the low level of <40%) the ANT(6) class of aminoglycoside-modifying enzymes, was found and further screening revealed its presence in all of the studied intermediately resistant C. coli isolates. A second phylogenetically close homologue (60% amino acid identity) was detected in C. jejuni and C. coli isolates, but we did not find evidence of its association with streptomycin resistance. Both ant-like genes were located in similar positions in the C. coli and C. jejuni genomes, corresponding to the previously described hypervariable region 14 in C. jejuni, which is characterized by a restriction-modification locus (56). These hypervariable genomic regions contain genes that are considered to be part of the Campylobacter accessory genome, but the corresponding genomic regions in C. coli remain largely uncharacterized. It has been proposed that these areas would not differ significantly in GC content from the rest of the genome in C. jejuni (57) and could be the result of horizontal gene transfer inside the species by homologous recombination (56), but more studies are needed to shed light on the dynamics of gene transfer in these regions.

AMEs have been found to be very heterogeneous, forming several subfamilies and groups, and many of them share only the ability to inactivate one or several aminoglycosides. In particular, adenylyltransferases have been found to share only little amino acid sequence identity with the other enzymes or with each other (109, 110, 112). Lincosamide and aminoglycoside nucleotidyltransferases have been previously proposed to be related to ancient nucleotide polymerases and further hypothesized that they have arisen from these so-called proto-resistant elements through divergent evolution (115, 231). Phylogenetic analysis revealed the presence of *ant*-like gene A only in a clade consisting of homologous proteins in *C. coli* derived from several sources and locations, including chicken, human and environmental sources and the countries United States, Switzerland and the UK. Among the screened *C. coli* isolates from our isolate

collection, this gene was found in isolates from 2/3 studied farms and included also the three intermediately streptomycin-resistant isolates from farm 2 that did not contain a previously described aminoglycoside adenylyltransferase gene found in a MDR plasmid in *C. jejuni* (24). Based on the phylogenetic analysis and the lack of insertion elements or other resistance genes in the region and the GC content being close to that of *Campylobacter* genome, we did not find evidence of a recent jump of this gene to *Campylobacter* spp. from another species. Therefore, it can be hypothesized that *ant*-like gene A evolved in *Campylobacter* spp. from a proto-resistance element originally having a different substrate/function.

A multidrug-resistant phenotype has been linked to most of the previously detected aminoglycoside resistance genes in *Campylobacter* spp. due to their location in MDR plasmids or genomic islands (24, 25, 68), but this does not seem to be the case with *ant*-like gene A, as no other known resistance genes were detected in the close proximity. We were also able to transfer *ant*-like gene A to another *C. coli* isolate by natural transformation, indicating that this might occur also *in vivo* in field conditions.

In conclusion, we were able to associate two mechanisms with high and intermediate streptomycin resistance in *C. coli* isolated from pigs in field conditions. Curiously, the *ant*-like gene A and streptomycin resistance-associated mutations in *rpsL* were not present concurrently in *C. coli* isolates. Further, our genotyping data from farm 3 shows, that high and intermediate level streptomycin resistance occurred consistently in different PFGE-types. This might indicate that an intermediate level of streptomycin resistance (e.g. harbouring aminoglycoside modifying enzyme encoding gene) is not required for the development of high level of streptomycin resistance (*rpsL* mutants) *in vivo*.

#### 6.1.2 C. upsaliensis

Interestingly, in streptomycin-resistant canine *C. upsaliensis*, we did not observe any mutations in *rpsL* leading to the non-restrictive change K43R, which was the only phenotype found in the STR-resistant *C. coli* from pigs. Instead, mutations leading to amino acid change K88R in S12 were observed in all of the studied STR-resistant isolates (accounting for 79% of all *C. upsaliensis* isolates included in Study IV), and this mutation was found in isolates having both low (16 mg/l) and high (>1024 mg/l) streptomycin MICs. This mutation has been classified as semi-restrictive in *E. coli*, resulting in only small decreases in protein synthesis rate (221, 222). In addition to the *rpsL* mutation, all highly streptomycin-resistant isolates harboured frameshift mutations in *rsmG*, leading to a major truncation and probable loss of function of the gene product. Consistent with our observations in *C. upsaliensis*, *rpsL rsmG* double mutants have been associated with a high level of streptomycin resistance in several other bacterial species including *M. tuberculosis*, *Bacillus subtilis* and *E. coli* (127, 128, 130).

We detected also isolates susceptible to streptomycin (MIC<4 mg/l) and not harbouring any resistance-associated mutations in rpsL or rsmG implying that streptomycin resistance is not intrinsic in this species as suggested previously (28). This is also supported by the findings of Fouts et al. (2005) (29) that *C. upsaliensis* strain RM3195 was not resistant to streptomycin. However, it can be presumed that the streptomycin resistance phenotype among canine *C. upsaliensis* isolates is quite persistent not only based on the prevalence data but also on the same phenotype (and resistance-conferring mutation) being observed in isolates acquired from the same dogs 4-5 months apart in each of the four cases when the dog had retained *C. upsaliensis* with the same ST.

# 6.2 Quinolone resistance mutations in *C. coli* and *C. upsaliensis* and ERY resistance mutations in *C. coli*

While T86I is the most commonly described amino acid substitution in GyrA in C. jejuni and C. coli, various other substitutions have also been described (Thr86Lys, Asp90Asn, Asp90Ala, Asp90His, Asp90Tyr, Ala87Pro, Ala70Thr, Thr86Ala, Thr86Val), many of them associated with a low level of fluoroquinolone resistance or resistance to nalidixic acid only (149-151, 153-156). All ciprofloxacin-resistant C. coli isolates from farm 3, where danofloxacin was used, were found to harbour C257T mutation in gyrA, leading to amino acid substitution T86I, but no other mutations in the QRDR region were detected, indicating that danofloxacin does not induce novel mutations in the gyrA in C. coli in vivo. The same mutation was also found in two C. upsaliensis isolates with a slight increase in ciprofloxacin MICs but resistant to nalidixic acid. This is explained by the fact that C257T mutation leads to the substitution T86M in C. upsaliensis due to differing nucleotide sequences of gyrA between C. upsaliensis and C. coli. T86M is a novel substitution which has not been described previously in *Campylobacter* species. Interestingly, Fouts et al. (2005) found that C. upsaliensis strain RM3195 was resistant to nalidixic acid (but not to ciprofloxacin), but, unlike in our isolates, they were unable to detect any known quinolone resistance-associated mutations in the QRDR of gyrA, implying that also mechanisms other than those described in C. jejuni and C. coli play a part in quinolone resistance in this species.

All *C. coli* isolates highly resistant to erythromycin were found to have an A2122G mutation in the 23S rRNA encoding gene, which has been previously associated with erythromycin resistance in *C. coli* (29). However, we did not find evidence that mutations in *rplD* or *rplV* would explain the decreased susceptibility to erythromycin (MIC 16-32 mg/l) in these *C. coli* isolates, as no previously described macrolide resistance-associated mutations were detected. Macrolide resistance-conferring mutations in the ribosomal protein L4 and L22 -encoding genes in *Campylobacter* spp. and other bacterial species have usually been located in the conserved region encoding amino acids 63-74 in L4 or leading to insertions or deletions of several amino acids in the C-terminal region of L22 (167, 171, 232-234). Even though we did detect several changes in both genes as compared with erythromycin-susceptible *C. jejuni* NCTC11168, the same genotypes were found in both susceptible and low-level resistant isolates. A more likely explanation for the observed low-level erythromycin resistance lies in the increased activity of the CmeABC efflux pump (168).

#### 6.3 Associations of STR and ERY resistances in porcine *C. coli* and dynamics of STR resistance development after DANO and tylosin treatment

In a previous study, we observed an increase in the isolation rate of streptomycin-resistant *C. coli* following tylosin treatment of pigs at farm 1, where aminoglycosides had not been used in at least four years. In particular, occurrences of resistance to erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, nalidixic acid and streptomycin were found to be significantly higher among the isolates from treated pigs than from control animals (27). A common resistance mechanism for macrolides and quinolones is known to exist, namely the increased action of the CmeABC efflux pump, but nothing similar has been described for streptomycin. This led us to explore putative associations between resistance to streptomycin and erythromycin in *C. coli*. However, no obvious association between these resistance traits were detected, as the isolates did not become resistant to both after selection

with either agent *in vitro* and no changes in streptomycin MICs were detected after efflux pump inhibition. Further, at farm 3, even though resistance to streptomycin appeared already after weaning (25% of isolates were resistant), after danofloxacin treatment 82% of the isolates from the treated group were streptomycin-resistant, suggesting that the use of danofloxacin promoted their selection. However, tylosin treatment applied after danofloxacin treatment was not observed to further increase the rate of streptomycin-resistant *C. coli*. On the contrary, after tylosin treatment, the frequency of streptomycin-resistant isolates in the treated group returned to a level close to that observed already after weaning and before danofloxacin treatment. Our findings indicate that the streptomycin-resistant isolates persisted at weaning units and were transferred to new batches of weaned pigs and selected in pigs treated with danofloxacin.

In light of the above-characterized streptomycin, erythromycin and fluoroquinolone resistance mechanisms, no obvious connection between them can be seen, possibly indicating other epistatic mechanisms selecting for STR resistance alongside other resistance traits. For example, in a study conducted in *E. coli* in an antibiotic-free environment *in vitro*, specific combinations of point mutations in *rpsL* (including K43R) and *gyrA* alleles leading to a double-resistant phenotype were found to exhibit positive epistasis (235). The molecular targets and therefore resistance-conferring mutations of streptomycin, erythromycin and ciprofloxacin occur in different steps along the same pathway, e.g. protein synthesis, which could be one explanation of putative epistasis between these resistances.

It is noteworthy that both of these observations (statistically significant increase in streptomycin resistance in *C. coli* after tylosin (27) or danofloxacin treatment of pigs) were made in field conditions, which is the likely environment of resistance development in the food chain. These farm studies indicate that the dynamics of resistance development at farms are complex and can lead to multiresistance even when mechanistically unrelated antimicrobials are used.

# 6.4 Occurrence of resistance in canine *C. upsaliensis* and *C. jejuni*

Among the sampled dogs, all of the studied canine *C. upsaliensis* and *C. jejuni* isolates were, apart from streptomycin, highly susceptible to the antimicrobials investigated. The high streptomycin resistance rate detected in *C. upsaliensis* is concordant with findings of previous studies (5, 28). Also a low rate of quinolone resistance has been reported among *C. upsaliensis* from pets in several countries, including Belgium, Italy and Norway (28, 30, 236). No conclusions can, however, be drawn from this study on the prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in *Campylobacter* spp. among the dog population in Finland as only a small number of dogs belonging to a single breed was sampled.

## 7 CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Mutations in codons 43 and 88 of the *rpsL* gene encoding the ribosomal protein S12 were found in all streptomycin resistant *C. coli* isolates and variants (but not their susceptible parents) indicating an association with streptomycin resistance. Only mutations of the non-restrictive type were found in streptomycin-resistant isolates originating from pigs while *in vitro*-generated mutants exhibited both restrictive and non-restrictive mutations in *rpsL* and more diverse streptomycin MICs. This might be due to the slower growth rate of the isolates with restrictive *rpsL* mutations rendering them unable to survive competition *in vivo* as has been shown in other bacteria.
- 2. A novel resistance gene, *ant*-like gene A, was found to confer an intermediate level of streptomycin resistance in *C. coli*. Based on phylogenetic analysis, close homologues were not detected in any other bacterial species, except for *ant*-like gene B in *C. jejuni*, which, however, appeared not to be associated with streptomycin resistance. Based on our findings, it can be hypothesized that streptomycin resistance conferring *ant*-like gene A evolved from a common ancestral proto-resistance element in *Campylobacter* spp.
- 3. Almost 80% of the studied canine *C. upsaliensis* isolates showed streptomycin MICs of >4 mg/l, and mutations in *rpsL* codon 88 were found in all low-level streptomycin-resistant isolates, while *rpsL rsmG* double mutants exhibited a highly resistant phenotype. However, also streptomycin-susceptible *C. upsaliensis* isolates not harbouring any resistance-associated mutations in either gene were detected, indicating streptomycin resistance is not intrinsic for *C. upsaliensis*.
- 4. The presence of streptomycin resistance genes and mutations in *C. coli* and *C. upsaliensis* populations derived from hosts that are known not to be exposed to streptomycin for long periods of time provides further evidence that merely ceasing antimicrobial usage will not completely eradicate resistant strains and suggests a low fitness cost of streptomycin resistance in these *Campylobacter* species. Challenge with an antimicrobial belonging to a different class appeared to select also streptomycin-resistant *C. coli* isolates. The observed increase of resistant isolates could be a consequence of co-selection mediated by some, yet uncharacterized, epistatic interactions.
- 5. All ciprofloxacin-resistant *C. coli* isolates from pigs that had been administered danofloxacin were found to harbour the commonly reported C257T mutation in *gyrA*, leading to T86I substitution and a high level of ciprofloxacin resistance indicating that danofloxacin does not induce novel mutations in the QRDR of *gyrA* in *C. coli in vivo*. However, the same C257T mutation in *C. upsaliensis* leads to T86M substitution and resistance to nalidixic acid, but only decreased sensitivity or low level resistance to ciprofloxacin, implying that the most commonly described fluoroquinolone resistance associated mutation in *C. coli* and *C. jejuni* is not sufficient to cause high level fluoroquinolone resistance phenotype in *C. upsaliensis*.

# 8 **REFERENCES**

1. EFSA, ECDC. The European Union Summary Report on Trends and Sources of Zoonoses, Zoonotic Agents and Food-borne Outbreaks in 2013. EFSA Journal. 2015;13(1):1-162.

2. Blaser MJ, Engberg J. Clinical aspects of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* infections. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, editors. *Campylobacter*. 3rd ed. Washington DC, USA: ASM Press; 2008. p. 99-121.

3. Moore JE, Barton MD, Blair IS, Corcoran D, Dooley JS, Fanning S, et al. The epidemiology of antibiotic resistance in *Campylobacter*. Microbes Infect. 2006 Jun;8(7):1955-66.

4. Man SM. The clinical importance of emerging *Campylobacter* species. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011 Oct 25;8(12):669-85.

5. Goossens H, Giesendorf BA, Vandamme P, Vlaes L, Van den Borre C, Koeken A, et al. Investigation of an outbreak of *Campylobacter upsaliensis* in day care centers in Brussels: analysis of relationships among isolates by phenotypic and genotypic typing methods. J Infect Dis. 1995 Nov;172(5):1298-305.

6. Shimizu Y, Ishii A, Takahata A, Kajiyama T, Yamahatsu A, Io H, et al. *Campylobacter* bacteremia in hemodialysis patients by eating raw meat - the importance of sanitary education. Case Rep Nephrol Urol. 2012 Jul;2(2):145-51.

7. Aarestrup FM, Engberg J. Antimicrobial resistance of thermophilic *Campylobacter*. Vet Res. 2001 May-Aug;32(3-4):311-21.

8. Laxminarayan R, Duse A, Wattal C, Zaidi AK, Wertheim HF, Sumpradit N, et al. Antibiotic resistance - the need for global solutions. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013 Dec;13(12):1057-98.

9. WHO. Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance. France: World Health Organisation; 2014.

10. Maisnier-Patin S, Andersson DI. Adaptation to the deleterious effects of antimicrobial drug resistance mutations by compensatory evolution. Res Microbiol. 2004 Jun;155(5):360-9.

11. Andersson DI. The biological cost of mutational antibiotic resistance: any practical conclusions? Curr Opin Microbiol. 2006 Oct;9(5):461-5.

12. Qin SS, Wu CM, Wang Y, Jeon B, Shen ZQ, Wang Y, et al. Antimicrobial resistance in *Campylobacter coli* isolated from pigs in two provinces of China. Int J Food Microbiol. 2011 Mar 15;146(1):94-8.

13. Ge B, Wang F, Sjolund-Karlsson M, McDermott PF. Antimicrobial resistance in *Campylobacter*: susceptibility testing methods and resistance trends. J Microbiol Methods. 2013 Oct;95(1):57-67.

14. Chen Y, Mukherjee S, Hoffmann M, Kotewicz ML, Young S, Abbott J, et al. Whole-genome sequencing of gentamicin-resistant *Campylobacter coli* isolated from U.S. retail meats reveals novel plasmid-mediated aminoglycoside resistance genes. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2013 Nov;57(11):5398-405.

15. Pezzotti G, Serafin A, Luzzi I, Mioni R, Milan M, Perin R. Occurrence and resistance to antibiotics of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* in animals and meat in northeastern Italy. Int J Food Microbiol. 2003 May 15;82(3):281-7.

16. Guevremont E, Nadeau E, Sirois M, Quessy S. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of thermophilic *Campylobacter* from humans, swine, and chicken broilers. Can J Vet Res. 2006 Apr;70(2):81-6.

17. Schuppers ME, Stephan R, Ledergerber U, Danuser J, Bissig-Choisat B, Stark KD, et al. Clinical herd health, farm management and antimicrobial resistance in *Campylobacter coli* on finishing pig farms in Switzerland. Prev Vet Med. 2005 Jul 12;69(3-4):189-202.

18. Torralbo A, Borge C, Garcia-Bocanegra I, Meric G, Perea A, Carbonero A. Higher resistance of *Campylobacter coli* compared to *Campylobacter jejuni* at chicken slaughterhouse. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis. 2015 Apr;39:47-52.

19. Zhang M, Liu X, Xu X, Gu Y, Tao X, Yang X, et al. Molecular subtyping and antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Campylobacter coli* isolates from diarrheal patients and food-producing animals in China. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2014 Aug;11(8):610-9.

20. Becker B, Cooper MA. Aminoglycoside antibiotics in the 21st century. ACS Chem Biol. 2013 Jan 18;8(1):105-15.

21. Chen LF, Kaye D. Current use for old antibacterial agents: polymyxins, rifamycins, and aminoglycosides. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2009 Dec;23(4):1053-75.

22. Drusano GL, Ambrose PG, Bhavnani SM, Bertino JS, Nafziger AN, Louie A. Back to the future: using aminoglycosides again and how to dose them optimally. Clin Infect Dis. 2007 Sep 15;45(6):753-60.

23. Zhao S, Mukherjee S, Chen Y, Li C, Young S, Warren M, et al. Novel gentamicin resistance genes in *Campylobacter* isolated from humans and retail meats in the USA. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2015 May;70(5):1314-21.

24. Nirdnoy W, Mason CJ, Guerry P. Mosaic structure of a multiple-drug-resistant, conjugative plasmid from *Campylobacter jejuni*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2005 Jun;49(6):2454-9.

25. Abril C, Brodard I, Perreten V. Two novel antibiotic resistance genes, *tet*(44) and *ant*(6)-*Ib*, are located within a transferable pathogenicity island in *Campylobacter fetus* subsp. *fetus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2010 Jul;54(7):3052-5.

26. Ouellette M, Gerbaud G, Lambert T, Courvalin P. Acquisition by a *Campylobacter*-like strain of *aphA-1*, a kanamycin resistance determinant from members of the family *Enterobacteriaceae*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1987 Jul;31(7):1021-6.

27. Juntunen P, Heiska H, Olkkola S, Myllyniemi AL, Hänninen ML. Antimicrobial resistance in *Campylobacter coli* selected by tylosin treatment at a pig farm. Vet Microbiol. 2010 Nov 20;146(1-2):90-7.

28. Sandberg M, Bergsjo B, Hofshagen M, Skjerve E, Kruse H. Risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection in Norwegian cats and dogs. Prev Vet Med. 2002 Nov 15;55(4):241-53.

29. Fouts DE, Mongodin EF, Mandrell RE, Miller WG, Rasko DA, Ravel J, et al. Major structural differences and novel potential virulence mechanisms from the genomes of multiple *Campylobacter* species. PLoS Biol. 2005 Jan;3(1):e15.

30. Rossi M, Hänninen ML, Revez J, Hannula M, Zanoni RG. Occurrence and species level diagnostics of *Campylobacter* spp., enteric *Helicobacter* spp. and *Anaerobiospirillum* spp. in healthy and diarrheic dogs and cats. Vet Microbiol. 2008 Jun 22;129(3-4):304-14.

31. Butzler JP. *Campylobacter*, from obscurity to celebrity. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2004 Oct;10(10):868-76.

32. Doyle LP. A vibrio associated with swine dysentery. Am J Vet J Res. 1944;5:3-5.

33. Levy AJ. A gastro-enteritisoutbreak probably due to a bovine strain of vibrio. The. 1946;18:243-58.

34. King EO. The laboratory recognition of *Vibrio fetus* and a closely related *Vibrio* isolated from cases of human vibriosis. Ann NY Acad Sci. 1962;98:700-11.

35. Sebald M, Veron M. Base DNA Content and Classification of Vibrios. Ann Inst Pasteur (Paris). 1963 Nov;105:897-910.

36. Dekeyser P, Gossuin-Detrain M, Butzler JP, Sternon J. Acute enteritis due to related vibrio: first positive stool cultures. J Infect Dis. 1972 Apr;125(4):390-2.

37. Skirrow MB. Campylobacter enteritis: a "new" disease. Br Med J. 1977 Jul 2;2(6078):9-11.

38. Gilbert MJ, Kik M, Miller WG, Duim B, Wagenaar JA. *Campylobacter iguaniorum* sp. nov., isolated from reptiles. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2015 Mar;65(Pt 3):975-82.

39. Debruyne L, Gevers D, Vandamme P. Taxonomy of the family *Campylobacteraceae*. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, editors. *Campylobacter*. Washington D.C.: American Society for Microbiology; 2008. p. 3-25.

40. Jacobs-Reitsma WF, Lyhs U, Wagenaar J. *Campylobacter* in the food supply. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski C, Blaser M, editors. *Campylobacter*. 3rd ed. Washington DC: ASM Press; 2008. p. 627-44.

41. Newell DG, Fearnley C. Sources of *Campylobacter* colonization in broiler chickens. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2003 Aug;69(8):4343-51.

42. Buswell CM, Herlihy YM, Lawrence LM, McGuiggan JT, Marsh PD, Keevil CW, et al. Extended survival and persistence of *Campylobacter* spp. in water and aquatic biofilms and their detection by immunofluorescent-antibody and -rRNA staining. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1998 Feb;64(2):733-41.

43. Kaakoush NO, Castano-Rodriguez N, Mitchell HM, Man SM. Global Epidemiology of *Campylobacter* Infection. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2015 Jul;28(3):687-720.

44. Gillespie IA, O'Brien SJ, Frost JA, Adak GK, Horby P, Swan AV, et al. A case-case comparison of *Campylobacter coli* and *Campylobacter jejuni* infection: a tool for generating hypotheses. Emerg Infect Dis. 2002 Sep;8(9):937-42.

45. Fitzgerald C, Whichard J, Nachamkin I. Diagnosis and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Campylobacter* species. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, editors. *Campylobacter*. 3rd ed. Washington DC: ASM Press; 2008. p. 227-43.

46. Riddle MS, Murray JA, Cash BD, Pimentel M, Porter CK. Pathogen-specific risk of celiac disease following bacterial causes of foodborne illness: a retrospective cohort study. Dig Dis Sci. 2013 Nov;58(11):3242-5.

47. Roux F, Sproston E, Rotariu O, Macrae M, Sheppard SK, Bessell P, et al. Elucidating the aetiology of human *Campylobacter coli* infections. PLoS One. 2013 May 29;8(5):e64504.

48. Olson CK, Ethelberg S, van Pelt W, Tauxe RV. Epidemiology of *Campylobacter jejuni* infections in industrialized nations. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski C, Blaser M, editors. *Campylobacter*. 3rd ed. Washington DC: ASM Press; 2008. p. 163-90.

49. Saenz Y, Zarazaga M, Lantero M, Gastanares MJ, Baquero F, Torres C. Antibiotic resistance in *Campylobacter* strains isolated from animals, foods, and humans in Spain in 1997-1998. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2000 Feb;44(2):267-71.

50. Ogden ID, Dallas JF, MacRae M, Rotariu O, Reay KW, Leitch M, et al. *Campylobacter* excreted into the environment by animal sources: prevalence, concentration shed, and host association. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2009 Dec;6(10):1161-70.

51. Hald B, Pedersen K, Waino M, Jorgensen JC, Madsen M. Longitudinal study of the excretion patterns of thermophilic *Campylobacter* spp. in young pet dogs in Denmark. J Clin Microbiol. 2004 May;42(5):2003-12.

52. Engvall EO, Brandstrom B, Andersson L, Baverud V, Trowald-Wigh G, Englund L. Isolation and identification of thermophilic *Campylobacter* species in faecal samples from Swedish dogs. Scand J Infect Dis. 2003;35(10):713-8.

53. Parkhill J, Wren BW, Mungall K, Ketley JM, Churcher C, Basham D, et al. The genome sequence of the food-borne pathogen *Campylobacter jejuni* reveals hypervariable sequences. Nature. 2000 Feb 10;403(6770):665-8.

54. Miller WG, Wang G, Binnewies TT, Parker CT. The complete genome sequence and analysis of the human pathogen *Campylobacter lari*. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2008 Aug;5(4):371-86.

55. Lefebure T, Bitar PD, Suzuki H, Stanhope MJ. Evolutionary dynamics of complete *Campylobacter* pan-genomes and the bacterial species concept. Genome Biol Evol. 2010;2:646-55.

56. Taboada EN, Acedillo RR, Carrillo CD, Findlay WA, Medeiros DT, Mykytczuk OL, et al. Largescale comparative genomics meta-analysis of *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates reveals low level of genome plasticity. J Clin Microbiol. 2004 Oct;42(10):4566-76.

57. Pearson BM, Pin C, Wright J, I'Anson K, Humphrey T, Wells JM. Comparative genome analysis of *Campylobacter jejuni* using whole genome DNA microarrays. FEBS Lett. 2003 Nov 6;554(1-2):224-30.

58. Hofreuter D, Tsai J, Watson RO, Novik V, Altman B, Benitez M, et al. Unique features of a highly pathogenic *Campylobacter jejuni* strain. Infect Immun. 2006 Aug;74(8):4694-707.

59. Hepworth PJ, Ashelford KE, Hinds J, Gould KA, Witney AA, Williams NJ, et al. Genomic variations define divergence of water/wildlife-associated *Campylobacter jejuni* niche specialists from common clonal complexes. Environ Microbiol. 2011 Jun;13(6):1549-60.

60. Jana S, Deb JK. Molecular understanding of aminoglycoside action and resistance. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2006 Mar;70(2):140-50.

61. Davies JE. Aminoglycosides: ancient and modern. J Antibiot (Tokyo). 2006 Sep;59(9):529-32.

62. Feldman MB, Terry DS, Altman RB, Blanchard SC. Aminoglycoside activity observed on single pre-translocation ribosome complexes. Nat Chem Biol. 2010 Mar;6(3):244.

63. Carter AP, Clemons WM, Brodersen DE, Morgan-Warren RJ, Wimberly BT, Ramakrishnan V. Functional insights from the structure of the 30S ribosomal subunit and its interactions with antibiotics. Nature. 2000 Sep 21;407(6802):340-8.

64. Williams PD, Bennett DB, Gleason CR, Hottendorf GH. Correlation between renal membrane binding and nephrotoxicity of aminoglycosides. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1987 Apr;31(4):570-4.

65. Wargo KA, Edwards JD. Aminoglycoside-induced nephrotoxicity. J Pharm Pract. 2014 Dec;27(6):573-7.

66. Brummett RE, Fox KE. Aminoglycoside-induced hearing loss in humans. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1989 Jun;33(6):797-800.

67. Begg EJ, Barclay ML. Aminoglycosides--50 years on. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1995 Jun;39(6):597-603.

68. Qin S, Wang Y, Zhang Q, Chen X, Shen Z, Deng F, et al. Identification of a novel genomic island conferring resistance to multiple aminoglycoside antibiotics in *Campylobacter coli*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2012 Oct;56(10):5332-9.

69. EMA. ESVAC: Sales of veterinary antimicrobial agents in 26 EU/EEA countries in 2013. European Medicines Agency; 2015. Report No.: 387934.

70. EFSA, ECDC. EU summary report on antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food in 2013. EFSA Journal;13(2):4036, 178 pp; 2015. Report No.: 4036.

71. Waksman SA. Streptomycin: background, isolation, properties, and utilization. Science. 1953 Sep 4;118(3062):259-66.

72. Schatz A, Bugie E, Waksman SA. Streptomycin, a substance exhibiting antibiotic activity against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. 1944. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2005 Aug;(437)(437):3-6.

73. McManus PS. Does a drop in the bucket make a splash? Assessing the impact of antibiotic use on plants. Curr Opin Microbiol. 2014 Jun;19:76-82.

74. Vidaver AK. Uses of antimicrobials in plant agriculture. Clin Infect Dis. 2002 Jun 1;34 Suppl 3:S107-10.

75. Lääketietokeskus Oy. Pharmaca Fennica Veterinaria. Helsinki: Lääketietokeskus Oy; 2015.

76. Busse HJ, Wostmann C, Bakker EP. The bactericidal action of streptomycin: membrane permeabilization caused by the insertion of mistranslated proteins into the cytoplasmic membrane of *Escherichia coli* and subsequent caging of the antibiotic inside the cells due to degradation of these proteins. J Gen Microbiol. 1992 Mar;138(3):551-61.

77. Appelbaum PC, Hunter PA. The fluoroquinolone antibacterials: past, present and future perspectives. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2000 Sep;16(1):5-15.

78. Gellert M, Mizuuchi K, O'Dea MH, Itoh T, Tomizawa JI. Nalidixic acid resistance: a second genetic character involved in DNA gyrase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1977 Nov;74(11):4772-6.

79. Hiasa H, Shea ME. DNA gyrase-mediated wrapping of the DNA strand is required for the replication fork arrest by the DNA gyrase-quinolone-DNA ternary complex. J Biol Chem. 2000 Nov 3;275(44):34780-6.

80. Wentzell LM, Maxwell A. The complex of DNA gyrase and quinolone drugs on DNA forms a barrier to the T7 DNA polymerase replication complex. J Mol Biol. 2000 Dec 15;304(5):779-91.

81. Hooper DC. Mechanisms of action and resistance of older and newer fluoroquinolones. Clin Infect Dis. 2000 Aug;31 Suppl 2:S24-8.

82. Sharma PC, Jain A, Jain S. Fluoroquinolone antibacterials: a review on chemistry, microbiology and therapeutic prospects. Acta Pol Pharm. 2009 Nov-Dec;66(6):587-604.

83. Wise R, Andrews JM, Edwards LJ. In vitro activity of Bay 09867, a new quinoline derivative, compared with those of other antimicrobial agents. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1983 Apr;23(4):559-64.

84. Adachi JA, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, DuPont HL, Ericsson CD. Empirical antimicrobial therapy for traveler's diarrhea. Clin Infect Dis. 2000 Oct;31(4):1079-83.

85. Price LB, Lackey LG, Vailes R, Silbergeld E. The persistence of fluoroquinolone-resistant *Campylobacter* in poultry production. Environ Health Perspect. 2007 Jul;115(7):1035-9.

86. Walker RD. Fluoroquinolones. In: Prescott JF, Baggot JD, Walker RD, editors. Antimicrobial Therapy in Veterinary Medicine. 3rd ed. Iowa, U. S. A: Iowa State University Press/Ames; 2000. p. 315-38.

87. Garrod LP. The erythromycin group of antibiotics. Br Med J. 1957 Jul 13;2(5036):57-63.

88. Katz L, Ashley GW. Translation and protein synthesis: macrolides. Chem Rev. 2005 Feb;105(2):499-528.

89. Tenson T, Lovmar M, Ehrenberg M. The mechanism of action of macrolides, lincosamides and streptogramin B reveals the nascent peptide exit path in the ribosome. J Mol Biol. 2003 Jul 25;330(5):1005-14.

90. Hansen JL, Ippolito JA, Ban N, Nissen P, Moore PB, Steitz TA. The structures of four macrolide antibiotics bound to the large ribosomal subunit. Mol Cell. 2002 Jul;10(1):117-28.

91. Tu D, Blaha G, Moore PB, Steitz TA. Structures of MLSBK antibiotics bound to mutated large ribosomal subunits provide a structural explanation for resistance. Cell. 2005 Apr 22;121(2):257-70.

92. Anonymous. Erythromycin. Br Med J. 1952 Nov 15;2(4793):1085-6.

93. Gibreel A, Taylor DE. Macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2006 Aug;58(2):243-55.

94. Morgan DJ, Okeke IN, Laxminarayan R, Perencevich EN, Weisenberg S. Non-prescription antimicrobial use worldwide: a systematic review. Lancet Infect Dis. 2011 Sep;11(9):692-701.

95. OECD. Global antimicrobial use in the livestock sector. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2015. Report No.: 34.

96. FDA. 2013 summary report on antimicrobials sold or distributed for use in food-producing animals. Food and Drug Administration, Department of Health and Human Services; 2015.

97. ECDC, EFSA, EMA. First joint report on the integrated analysis of the consumption of antimicrobial agents and occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from humans and food-producing animals. 2015. Report No.: 4006.

98. Andrews JM. Determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2001 Jul;48 Suppl 1:5-16.

99. McDermott PF, Bodeis SM, Aarestrup FM, Brown S, Traczewski M, Fedorka-Cray P, et al. Development of a standardized susceptibility test for *Campylobacter* with quality-control ranges for ciprofloxacin, doxycycline, erythromycin, gentamicin, and meropenem. Microb Drug Resist. 2004 Summer;10(2):124-31.

100. Wright GD. The antibiotic resistome: the nexus of chemical and genetic diversity. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2007 Mar;5(3):175-86.

101. MacLean RC, Hall AR, Perron GG, Buckling A. The population genetics of antibiotic resistance: integrating molecular mechanisms and treatment contexts. Nat Rev Genet. 2010 Jun;11(6):405-14.

102. Walsh C. Molecular mechanisms that confer antibacterial drug resistance. Nature. 2000 Aug 17;406(6797):775-81.

103. Taylor DE, Courvalin P. Mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in *Campylobacter* species. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1988 Aug;32(8):1107-12.

104. Zhang Q, Plummer PJ. Mechanisms of Antibiotic Resistance in *Campylobacter*. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, editors. *Campylobacter*. 3rd ed. ed. Washington, D.C.: American Society of Microbiology; 2008. p. 263-76.

105. Corry JE, Post DE, Colin P, Laisney MJ. Culture media for the isolation of campylobacters. Int J Food Microbiol. 1995 Jun;26(1):43-76.

106. Rossi M, Olkkola S, Roasto M, Hänninen M. Antimicrobial resistance and *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli*. In: Chen C, Yan X, Jackson CR, editors. Antimicrobial Resistance and Food Safety Methods and Techniques. Academic Press, Elsevier; 2015. p. 55-76.

107. Ramirez MS, Tolmasky ME. Aminoglycoside modifying enzymes. Drug Resist Updat. 2010 Dec;13(6):151-71.

108. Shaw KJ, Rather PN, Hare RS, Miller GH. Molecular genetics of aminoglycoside resistance genes and familial relationships of the aminoglycoside-modifying enzymes. Microbiol Rev. 1993 Mar;57(1):138-63.

109. Vakulenko SB, Mobashery S. Versatility of aminoglycosides and prospects for their future. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2003 Jul;16(3):430-50.

110. Smith CA, Baker EN. Aminoglycoside antibiotic resistance by enzymatic deactivation. Infect Disord Drug Targets. 2002;2:143-60.

111. Toth M, Frase H, Antunes NT, Vakulenko SB. Novel aminoglycoside 2"-phosphotransferase identified in a Gram-negative pathogen. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2013 Jan;57(1):452-7.

112. Davies J, Wright GD. Bacterial resistance to aminoglycoside antibiotics. Trends Microbiol. 1997 Jun;5(6):234-40.

113. Vanhoof R, Hannecart-Pokorni E, Content J. Nomenclature of genes encoding aminoglycosidemodifying enzymes. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1998 Feb;42(2):483.

114. Mingeot-Leclercq MP, Glupczynski Y, Tulkens PM. Aminoglycosides: activity and resistance. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1999 Apr;43(4):727-37.

115. Morar M, Bhullar K, Hughes DW, Junop M, Wright GD. Structure and mechanism of the lincosamide antibiotic adenylyltransferase LinB. Structure. 2009 Dec 9;17(12):1649-59.

116. Magnet S, Blanchard JS. Molecular insights into aminoglycoside action and resistance. Chem Rev. 2005 Feb;105(2):477-98.

117. Payie KG, Rather PN, Clarke AJ. Contribution of gentamicin 2'-N-acetyltransferase to the O-acetylation of peptidoglycan in *Providencia stuartii*. J Bacteriol. 1995 Aug;177(15):4303-10.

118. Robicsek A, Strahilevitz J, Jacoby GA, Macielag M, Abbanat D, Park CH, et al. Fluoroquinolonemodifying enzyme: a new adaptation of a common aminoglycoside acetyltransferase. Nat Med. 2006 Jan;12(1):83-8.

119. De Stasio EA, Moazed D, Noller HF, Dahlberg AE. Mutations in 16S ribosomal RNA disrupt antibiotic--RNA interactions. EMBO J. 1989 Apr;8(4):1213-6.

120. Yokoyama K, Doi Y, Yamane K, Kurokawa H, Shibata N, Shibayama K, et al. Acquisition of 16S rRNA methylase gene in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Lancet. 2003 Dec 6;362(9399):1888-93.

121. Wachino J, Arakawa Y. Exogenously acquired 16S rRNA methyltransferases found in aminoglycoside-resistant pathogenic Gram-negative bacteria: an update. Drug Resist Updat. 2012 Jun;15(3):133-48.

122. Meier A, Sander P, Schaper KJ, Scholz M, Bottger EC. Correlation of molecular resistance mechanisms and phenotypic resistance levels in streptomycin-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1996 Nov;40(11):2452-4.

123. Meier A, Kirschner P, Bange FC, Vogel U, Bottger EC. Genetic alterations in streptomycinresistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: mapping of mutations conferring resistance. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1994 Feb;38(2):228-33.

124. Honore N, Cole ST. Streptomycin resistance in mycobacteria. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1994 Feb;38(2):238-42.

125. Funatsu G, Wittmann HG. Ribosomal proteins XXXIII. Location of amino-acid replacements in protein S12 isolated from *Escherichia coli* mutants resistant to streptomycin. J Mol Biol. 1972 Jul 28;68(3):547-50.

126. Torii N, Nozaki T, Masutani M, Nakagama H, Sugiyama T, Saito D, et al. Spontaneous mutations in the *Helicobacter pylori rpsL* gene. Mutat Res. 2003 Mar 3;535(2):141-5.

127. Okamoto S, Tamaru A, Nakajima C, Nishimura K, Tanaka Y, Tokuyama S, et al. Loss of a conserved 7-methylguanosine modification in 16S rRNA confers low-level streptomycin resistance in bacteria. Mol Microbiol. 2007 Feb;63(4):1096-106.

128. Nishimura K, Johansen SK, Inaoka T, Hosaka T, Tokuyama S, Tahara Y, et al. Identification of the RsmG methyltransferase target as 16S rRNA nucleotide G527 and characterization of *Bacillus subtilis rsmG* mutants. J Bacteriol. 2007 Aug;189(16):6068-73.

129. Nishimura K, Hosaka T, Tokuyama S, Okamoto S, Ochi K. Mutations in *rsmG*, encoding a 16S rRNA methyltransferase, result in low-level streptomycin resistance and antibiotic overproduction in *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3(2). J Bacteriol. 2007 May;189(10):3876-83.

130. Benitez-Paez A, Cardenas-Brito S, Corredor M, Villarroya M, Armengod ME. Impairing methylations at ribosome RNA, a point mutation-dependent strategy for aminoglycoside resistance: the *rsmG* case. Biomedica. 2014 Apr;34 Suppl 1:41-9.

131. Varela NP, Friendship R, Dewey C. Prevalence of resistance to 11 antimicrobials among *Campylobacter coli* isolated from pigs on 80 grower-finisher farms in Ontario. Can J Vet Res. 2007 Jul;71(3):189-94.

132. Giacomelli M, Salata C, Martini M, Montesissa C, Piccirillo A. Antimicrobial resistance of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* from poultry in Italy. Microb Drug Resist. 2014 Apr;20(2):181-8.

133. Ishihara K, Yamamoto T, Satake S, Takayama S, Kubota S, Negishi H, et al. Comparison of *Campylobacter* isolated from humans and food-producing animals in Japan. J Appl Microbiol. 2006;100(1):153-60.

134. Regula G, Stephan R, Danuser J, Bissig B, Ledergerber U, Lo Fo Wong D, et al. Reduced antibiotic resistance to fluoroquinolones and streptomycin in 'animal-friendly' pig fattening farms in Switzerland. Vet Rec. 2003 Jan 18;152(3):80-1.

135. Olkkola S, Nykäsenoja S, Raulo S, Llarena AK, Kovanen S, Kivistö R, et al. Antimicrobial resistance and multilocus sequence types of Finnish *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates from multiple sources. Zoonoses Public Health. 2015 Apr 27;16:105-10.

136. Trieu-Cuot P, Courvalin P. Evolution and transfer of aminoglycoside resistance genes under natural conditions. J Antimicrob Chemother. 1986 Oct;18 Suppl C:93-102.

137. Papadopoulou B, Courvalin P. Dispersal in *Campylobacter* spp. of *aphA-3*, a kanamycin resistance determinant from Gram-positive cocci. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1988 Jun;32(6):945-8.

138. Tenover FC, Elvrum PM. Detection of two different kanamycin resistance genes in naturally occurring isolates of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1988 Aug;32(8):1170-3.

139. Pinto-Alphandary H, Mabilat C, Courvalin P. Emergence of aminoglycoside resistance genes *aadA* and *aadE* in the genus *Campylobacter*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1990 Jun;34(6):1294-6.

140. Lee MD, Sanchez S, Zimmer M, Idris U, Berrang ME, McDermott PF. Class 1 integron-associated tobramycin-gentamicin resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* isolated from the broiler chicken house environment. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2002 Nov;46(11):3660-4.

141. Gibreel A, Skold O, Taylor DE. Characterization of plasmid-mediated *aphA-3* kanamycin resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni*. Microb Drug Resist. 2004 Summer;10(2):98-105.

142. O'Halloran F, Lucey B, Cryan B, Buckley T, Fanning S. Molecular characterization of class 1 integrons from Irish thermophilic *Campylobacter* spp. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2004 Jun;53(6):952-7.

143. O'Connor EB, O'Sullivan O, Stanton C, Danielsen M, Simpson PJ, Callanan MJ, et al. pEOC01: a plasmid from *Pediococcus acidilactici* which encodes an identical streptomycin resistance (*aadE*) gene to that found in *Campylobacter jejuni*. Plasmid. 2007 Sep;58(2):115-26.

144. Zhao S, Tyson GH, Chen Y, Li C, Mukherjee S, Young S, et al. Whole genome sequencing analysis accurately predicts antimicrobial resistance phenotypes in *Campylobacter*. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2015 Oct 30;82(2):459-66.

145. Trieu-Cuot P, Gerbaud G, Lambert T, Courvalin P. *In vivo* transfer of genetic information between Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. EMBO J. 1985 Dec 16;4(13A):3583-7.

146. Tenover FC, Fennell CL, Lee L, LeBlanc DJ. Characterization of two plasmids from *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates that carry the *aphA-7* kanamycin resistance determinant. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1992 Apr;36(4):712-6.

147. Martinez-Martinez L, Pascual A, Jacoby GA. Quinolone resistance from a transferable plasmid. Lancet. 1998 Mar 14;351(9105):797-9.

148. Tran JH, Jacoby GA. Mechanism of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Apr 16;99(8):5638-42.

149. Piddock LJ, Ricci V, Pumbwe L, Everett MJ, Griggs DJ. Fluoroquinolone resistance in *Campylobacter* species from man and animals: detection of mutations in topoisomerase genes. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2003 Jan;51(1):19-26.

150. Luo N, Sahin O, Lin J, Michel LO, Zhang Q. *In vivo* selection of *Campylobacter* isolates with high levels of fluoroquinolone resistance associated with *gyrA* mutations and the function of the CmeABC efflux pump. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2003 Jan;47(1):390-4.

151. Bachoual R, Ouabdesselam S, Mory F, Lascols C, Soussy CJ, Tankovic J. Single or double mutational alterations of *gyrA* associated with fluoroquinolone resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. Microb Drug Resist. 2001 Fall;7(3):257-61.

152. Payot S, Avrain L, Magras C, Praud K, Cloeckaert A, Chaslus-Dancla E. Relative contribution of target gene mutation and efflux to fluoroquinolone and erythromycin resistance, in French poultry and pig isolates of *Campylobacter coli*. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2004 May;23(5):468-72.

153. Ruiz J, Moreno A, Jimenez de Anta MT, Vila J. A double mutation in the *gyrA* gene is necessary to produce high levels of resistance to moxifloxacin in *Campylobacter* spp. clinical isolates. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2005 Jun;25(6):542-5.

154. Wang Y, Huang WM, Taylor DE. Cloning and nucleotide sequence of the *Campylobacter jejuni gyrA* gene and characterization of quinolone resistance mutations. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1993 Mar;37(3):457-63.

155. Jesse TW, Englen MD, Pittenger-Alley LG, Fedorka-Cray PJ. Two distinct mutations in *gyrA* lead to ciprofloxacin and nalidixic acid resistance in *Campylobacter coli* and *Campylobacter jejuni* isolated from chickens and beef cattle. J Appl Microbiol. 2006 Apr;100(4):682-8.

156. Payot S, Cloeckaert A, Chaslus-Dancla E. Selection and characterization of fluoroquinoloneresistant mutants of *Campylobacter jejuni* using enrofloxacin. Microb Drug Resist. 2002 Winter;8(4):335-43.

157. Ge B, McDermott PF, White DG, Meng J. Role of efflux pumps and topoisomerase mutations in fluoroquinolone resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2005 Aug;49(8):3347-54.

158. Gootz TD, Martin BA. Characterization of high-level quinolone resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1991 May;35(5):840-5.

159. Luo N, Pereira S, Sahin O, Lin J, Huang S, Michel L, et al. Enhanced *in vivo* fitness of fluoroquinolone-resistant *Campylobacter jejuni* in the absence of antibiotic selection pressure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005 Jan 18;102(3):541-6.

160. Engberg J, Aarestrup FM, Taylor DE, Gerner-Smidt P, Nachamkin I. Quinolone and macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli*: resistance mechanisms and trends in human isolates. Emerg Infect Dis. 2001 Jan-Feb;7(1):24-34.

161. Endtz HP, Ruijs GJ, van Klingeren B, Jansen WH, van der Reyden T, Mouton RP. Quinolone resistance in *Campylobacter* isolated from man and poultry following the introduction of fluoroquinolones in veterinary medicine. J Antimicrob Chemother. 1991 Feb;27(2):199-208.

162. USDA. National Antimicrobial Resistance Monitoring System – Enteric Bacteria, Animal Arm (NARMS): 2011 NARMS Animal Arm Annual Report. Athens, GA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service; 2014.

163. Belanger AE, Shryock TR. Macrolide-resistant *Campylobacter*: the meat of the matter. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2007 Oct;60(4):715-23.

164. Tait-Kamradt A, Clancy J, Cronan M, Dib-Hajj F, Wondrack L, Yuan W, et al. *mefE* is necessary for the erythromycin-resistant M phenotype in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1997 Oct;41(10):2251-5.

165. Chouchani C, El Salabi A, Marrakchi R, Ferchichi L, Walsh TR. First report of *mefA* and *msrA/ msrB* multidrug efflux pumps associated with *bla*TEM-1 beta-lactamase in *Enterococcus faecalis*. Int J Infect Dis. 2012 Feb;16(2):e104-9.

166. Jensen LB, Aarestrup FM. Macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter coli* of animal origin in Denmark. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2001 Jan;45(1):371-2.

167. Cagliero C, Mouline C, Payot S, Cloeckaert A. Involvement of the CmeABC efflux pump in the macrolide resistance of *Campylobacter coli*. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2005 Nov;56(5):948-50.

168. Lin J, Michel LO, Zhang Q. CmeABC functions as a multidrug efflux system in *Campylobacter jejuni*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2002 Jul;46(7):2124-31.

169. Gibreel A, Kos VN, Keelan M, Trieber CA, Levesque S, Michaud S, et al. Macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*: molecular mechanism and stability of the resistance phenotype. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2005 Jul;49(7):2753-9.

170. Cagliero C, Mouline C, Cloeckaert A, Payot S. Synergy between efflux pump CmeABC and modifications in ribosomal proteins L4 and L22 in conferring macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2006 Nov;50(11):3893-6.

171. Caldwell DB, Wang Y, Lin J. Development, stability, and molecular mechanisms of macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2008 Nov;52(11):3947-54.

172. Roe DE, Weinberg A, Roberts MC. Characterization of erythromycin resistance in *Campylobacter (Wolinella) rectus*. Clin Infect Dis. 1995 Jun;20 Suppl 2:S370-1.

173. Wang Y, Zhang M, Deng F, Shen Z, Wu C, Zhang J, et al. Emergence of multidrug-resistant *Campylobacter* species isolates with a horizontally acquired rRNA methylase. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014 Sep;58(9):5405-12.

174. Qin S, Wang Y, Zhang Q, Zhang M, Deng F, Shen Z, et al. Report of ribosomal RNA methylase gene *erm*(*B*) in multidrug-resistant *Campylobacter coli*. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2014 Apr;69(4):964-8.

175. Luangtongkum T, Shen Z, Seng VW, Sahin O, Jeon B, Liu P, et al. Impaired fitness and transmission of macrolide-resistant *Campylobacter jejuni* in its natural host. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2012 Mar;56(3):1300-8.

176. Sanger F, Nicklen S, Coulson AR. DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. 1977. Biotechnology. 1992;24:104-8.

177. Smith LM, Sanders JZ, Kaiser RJ, Hughes P, Dodd C, Connell CR, et al. Fluorescence detection in automated DNA sequence analysis. Nature. 1986 Jun 12-18;321(6071):674-9.

178. Fleischmann RD, Adams MD, White O, Clayton RA, Kirkness EF, Kerlavage AR, et al. Whole-genome random sequencing and assembly of *Haemophilus influenzae* Rd. Science. 1995 Jul 28;269(5223):496-512.

179. Goldman D, Domschke K. Making sense of deep sequencing. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2014 Oct;17(10):1717-25.

180. Loman NJ, Constantinidou C, Chan JZ, Halachev M, Sergeant M, Penn CW, et al. Highthroughput bacterial genome sequencing: an embarrassment of choice, a world of opportunity. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2012 Sep;10(9):599-606.

181. Koser CU, Ellington MJ, Peacock SJ. Whole-genome sequencing to control antimicrobial resistance. Trends Genet. 2014 Sep;30(9):401-7.

182. Shendure J, Ji H. Next-generation DNA sequencing. Nat Biotechnol. 2008 Oct;26(10):1135-45.

183. Dark MJ. Whole-genome sequencing in bacteriology: state of the art. Infect Drug Resist. 2013 Oct 8;6:115-23.
184. Schirmer M, Ijaz UZ, D'Amore R, Hall N, Sloan WT, Quince C. Insight into biases and sequencing errors for amplicon sequencing with the Illumina MiSeq platform. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015 Mar 31;43(6):e37.

185. Loman NJ, Quick J, Simpson JT. A complete bacterial genome assembled *de novo* using only nanopore sequencing data. Nat Methods. 2015 Aug;12(8):733-5.

186. Compeau PE, Pevzner PA, Tesler G. How to apply de Bruijn graphs to genome assembly. Nat Biotechnol. 2011 Nov 8;29(11):987-91.

187. Kisand V, Lettieri T. Genome sequencing of bacteria: sequencing, *de novo* assembly and rapid analysis using open source tools. BMC Genomics. 2013 Apr 1;14:211,2164-14-211.

188. Bankevich A, Nurk S, Antipov D, Gurevich AA, Dvorkin M, Kulikov AS, et al. SPAdes: a new genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing. J Comput Biol. 2012 May;19(5):455-77.

189. Simpson JT, Wong K, Jackman SD, Schein JE, Jones SJ, Birol I. ABySS: a parallel assembler for short read sequence data. Genome Res. 2009 Jun;19(6):1117-23.

190. Zerbino DR, Birney E. Velvet: algorithms for *de novo* short read assembly using de Bruijn graphs. Genome Res. 2008 May;18(5):821-9.

191. Aziz RK, Bartels D, Best AA, DeJongh M, Disz T, Edwards RA, et al. The RAST Server: rapid annotations using subsystems technology. BMC Genomics. 2008 Feb 8;9:75,2164-9-75.

192. Punina NV, Makridakis NM, Remnev MA, Topunov AF. Whole-genome sequencing targets drug-resistant bacterial infections. Hum Genomics. 2015 Aug 5;9:19,015-0037-z.

193. McArthur AG, Waglechner N, Nizam F, Yan A, Azad MA, Baylay AJ, et al. The comprehensive antibiotic resistance database. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2013 Jul;57(7):3348-57.

194. Zankari E, Hasman H, Cosentino S, Vestergaard M, Rasmussen S, Lund O, et al. Identification of acquired antimicrobial resistance genes. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2012 Nov;67(11):2640-4.

195. Feng J, Lupien A, Gingras H, Wasserscheid J, Dewar K, Legare D, et al. Genome sequencing of linezolid-resistant *Streptococcus pneumoniae* mutants reveals novel mechanisms of resistance. Genome Res. 2009 Jul;19(7):1214-23.

196. Zankari E, Hasman H, Kaas RS, Seyfarth AM, Agerso Y, Lund O, et al. Genotyping using wholegenome sequencing is a realistic alternative to surveillance based on phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2013 Apr;68(4):771-7.

197. Denis M, Soumet C, Rivoal K, Ermel G, Blivet D, Salvat G, et al. Development of a m-PCR assay for simultaneous identification of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli*. Lett Appl Microbiol. 1999 Dec;29(6):406-10.

198. Linton D, Lawson AJ, Owen RJ, Stanley J. PCR detection, identification to species level, and fingerprinting of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* direct from diarrheic samples. J Clin Microbiol. 1997 Oct;35(10):2568-72.

199. Lawson AJ, Linton D, Stanley J, Owen RJ. Polymerase chain reaction detection and speciation of *Campylobacter upsaliensis* and *C. helveticus* in human faeces and comparison with culture techniques. J Appl Microbiol. 1997 Sep;83(3):375-80.

200. Zanoni RG, Rossi M, Giacomucci D, Sanguinetti V, Manfreda G. Occurrence and antibiotic susceptibility of *Helicobacter pullorum* from broiler chickens and commercial laying hens in Italy. Int J Food Microbiol. 2007 May 1;116(1):168-73.

201. Pitcher DG, Saunders NA, Owe RJ. Rapid extraction of bacterial genomic DNA with guanidium thiocyanate. Letters in applied microbiology. 1989;8(4):151-6.

202. Griggs DJ, Johnson MM, Frost JA, Humphrey T, Jorgensen F, Piddock LJ. Incidence and mechanism of ciprofloxacin resistance in *Campylobacter* spp. isolated from commercial poultry flocks in the United Kingdom before, during, and after fluoroquinolone treatment. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2005 Feb;49(2):699-707.

203. Zhang J, Halkilahti J, Hänninen ML, Rossi M. Refinement of whole-genome multilocus sequence typing analysis by addressing gene paralogy. J Clin Microbiol. 2015 Mar 18;53:1765-7.

204. Llarena AK, Skarp-de Haan CP, Rossi M, Hänninen ML. Characterization of the *Campylobacter jejuni* population in the barnacle geese reservoir. Zoonoses Public Health. 2014 Jun 20;62:209-21.

205. Llarena AK, Huneau A, Hakkinen M, Hänninen ML. Predominant *Campylobacter jejuni* sequence types persist in Finnish chicken production. PLoS One. 2015 Feb 20;10(2):e0116585.

206. Kovanen SM, Kivistö RI, Rossi M, Schott T, Kärkkäinen UM, Tuuminen T, et al. Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) and whole-genome MLST of *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates from human infections in three districts during a seasonal peak in Finland. J Clin Microbiol. 2014 Sep 17;52(12):4147-52.

207. Rasko DA, Myers GS, Ravel J. Visualization of comparative genomic analyses by BLAST score ratio. BMC Bioinformatics. 2005 Jan 5;6:2.

208. Katoh K, Misawa K, Kuma K, Miyata T. MAFFT: a novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignment based on fast Fourier transform. Nucleic Acids Res. 2002 Jul 15;30(14):3059-66.

209. Tamura K, Peterson D, Peterson N, Stecher G, Nei M, Kumar S. MEGA5: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis using maximum likelihood, evolutionary distance, and maximum parsimony methods. Mol Biol Evol. 2011 Oct;28(10):2731-9.

210. Rzhetsky A, Nei M. Statistical properties of the ordinary least-squares, generalized least-squares, and minimum-evolution methods of phylogenetic inference. J Mol Evol. 1992 Oct;35(4):367-75.

211. Letunic I, Bork P. Interactive Tree Of Life v2: online annotation and display of phylogenetic trees made easy. Nucleic Acids Res. 2011 Jul;39(Web Server issue):W475-8.

212. Kelley LA, Sternberg MJ. Protein structure prediction on the Web: a case study using the Phyre server. Nat Protoc. 2009;4(3):363-71.

213. Kelley LA, Mezulis S, Yates CM, Wass MN, Sternberg MJ. The Phyre2 web portal for protein modeling, prediction and analysis. Nat Protoc. 2015 Jun;10(6):845-58.

214. Sheppard SK, Cheng L, Meric G, de Haan CP, Llarena AK, Marttinen P, et al. Cryptic ecology among host generalist *Campylobacter jejuni* in domestic animals. Mol Ecol. 2014 May;23(10):2442-51.

215. Wang Y, Taylor DE. Natural transformation in *Campylobacter* species. J Bacteriol. 1990 Feb;172(2):949-55.

216. Gill AE, Amyes SG. The contribution of a novel ribosomal S12 mutation to aminoglycoside resistance of *Escherichia coli* mutants. J Chemother. 2004 Aug;16(4):347-9.

217. Fukuda M, Koga H, Ohno H, Yang B, Hirakata Y, Maesaki S, et al. Relationship between genetic alteration of the *rpsL* gene and streptomycin susceptibility of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in Japan. J Antimicrob Chemother. 1999 Feb;43(2):281-4.

218. Hosaka T, Tamehiro N, Chumpolkulwong N, Hori-Takemoto C, Shirouzu M, Yokoyama S, et al. The novel mutation K87E in ribosomal protein S12 enhances protein synthesis activity during the late growth phase in *Escherichia coli*. Mol Genet Genomics. 2004 Apr;271(3):317-24.

219. Schrag SJ, Perrot V. Reducing antibiotic resistance. Nature. 1996 May 9;381(6578):120-1.

220. Toivonen JM, Boocock MR, Jacobs HT. Modelling in *Escherichia coli* of mutations in mitoribosomal protein S12: novel mutant phenotypes of *rpsL*. Mol Microbiol. 1999 Mar;31(6):1735-46.

221. Bohman K, Ruusala T, Jelenc PC, Kurland CG. Kinetic impairment of restrictive streptomycinresistant ribosomes. Mol Gen Genet. 1984;198(2):90-9.

222. Chen C, Blumentritt CA, Curtis MM, Sperandio V, Torres AG, Dudley EG. Restrictive streptomycin-resistant mutations decrease the formation of attaching and effacing lesions in *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2013 Jun 24;57(9):4260-6.

223. Tubulekas I, Buckingham RH, Hughes D. Mutant ribosomes can generate dominant kirromycin resistance. J Bacteriol. 1991 Jun;173(12):3635-43.

224. Kalapala SK, Hobbie SN, Bottger EC, Shcherbakov D. Mutation K42R in ribosomal protein S12 does not affect susceptibility of *Mycobacterium smegmatis* 16S rRNA A-site mutants to 2-deoxystreptamines. PLoS One. 2010 Aug 5;5(8):e11960.

225. Enne VI, Delsol AA, Davis GR, Hayward SL, Roe JM, Bennett PM. Assessment of the fitness impacts on *Escherichia coli* of acquisition of antibiotic resistance genes encoded by different types of genetic element. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2005 Sep;56(3):544-51.

226. Bjorkman J, Hughes D, Andersson DI. Virulence of antibiotic-resistant *Salmonella typhimurium*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998 Mar 31;95(7):3949-53.

227. Maisnier-Patin S, Berg OG, Liljas L, Andersson DI. Compensatory adaptation to the deleterious effect of antibiotic resistance in *Salmonella typhimurium*. Mol Microbiol. 2002 Oct;46(2):355-66.

228. Paulander W, Maisnier-Patin S, Andersson DI. The fitness cost of streptomycin resistance depends on *rpsL* mutation, carbon source and RpoS (sigmaS). Genetics. 2009 Oct;183(2):539,46, 1SI-2SI.

229. Shima J, Hesketh A, Okamoto S, Kawamoto S, Ochi K. Induction of actinorhodin production by *rpsL* (encoding ribosomal protein S12) mutations that confer streptomycin resistance in *Streptomyces lividans* and *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3(2). J Bacteriol. 1996 Dec;178(24):7276-84.

230. Okamoto-Hosoya Y, Hosaka T, Ochi K. An aberrant protein synthesis activity is linked with antibiotic overproduction in *rpsL* mutants of *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3(2). Microbiology. 2003 Nov;149(Pt 11):3299-309.

231. Holm L, Sander C. DNA polymerase beta belongs to an ancient nucleotidyltransferase superfamily. Trends Biochem Sci. 1995 Sep;20(9):345-7.

232. Reinert RR, Wild A, Appelbaum P, Lutticken R, Cil MY, Al-Lahham A. Ribosomal mutations conferring resistance to macrolides in *Streptococcus pneumoniae* clinical strains isolated in Germany. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2003 Jul;47(7):2319-22.

233. Tait-Kamradt A, Davies T, Appelbaum PC, Depardieu F, Courvalin P, Petitpas J, et al. Two new mechanisms of macrolide resistance in clinical strains of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* from Eastern Europe and North America. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2000 Dec;44(12):3395-401.

234. Hao H, Yuan Z, Shen Z, Han J, Sahin O, Liu P, et al. Mutational and transcriptomic changes involved in the development of macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2013 Mar;57(3):1369-78.

235. Trindade S, Sousa A, Xavier KB, Dionisio F, Ferreira MG, Gordo I. Positive epistasis drives the acquisition of multidrug resistance. PLoS Genet. 2009 Jul;5(7):e1000578.

236. Vandenberg O, Houf K, Douat N, Vlaes L, Retore P, Butzler JP, et al. Antimicrobial susceptibility of clinical isolates of non-*jejuni/coli* campylobacters and arcobacters from Belgium. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2006 May;57(5):908-13.

## **Recent Publications in this Series**

## 25/2015 Seija Virtanen Redox Reactions and Water Quality in Cultivated Boreal Acid Sulphate Soils in Relation to Water Management 26/2015 Ling Zou Crop Rotation as a Tool Towards Sustainable Barley Cropping 27/2015 Pirjo Yli-Hemminki Microbes Regulate Metal and Nutrient Cycling in Fe-Mn Concretions of the Gulf of Finland 28/2015 Venla Jokela Regulation of Flowering and Canopy Structure in Timothy (*Phleum pratense L.*) 29/2015 Epie Kenedy Etone Sustainable Cropping of Reed Canary Grass for Energy Use 30/2015 Anna Knuuttila Diagnostics and Epidemiology of Aleutian Mink Disease Virus 31/2015 Jose Martin Ramos Diaz Use of Amaranth, Quinoa, Kañiwa and Lupine for the Development of Gluten-Free Extruded Snacks 32/2015 Aleksandar Klimeski Characterization of Solid Phosphorus-Retaining Materials - from Laboratory to Large-Scale Treatment of Agricultural Runoff 33/2015 Niina Idänheimo The Role of Cysteine-rich Receptor-like Protein Kinases in ROS signaling in Arabidopsis thaliana 34/2015 Susanna Keriö Terpene Analysis and Transcript Profiling of the Conifer Response to Heterobasidion annosum s.l. Infection and Hylobius abietis Feeding 35/2015 Ann-Katrin Llarena Population Genetics and Molecular Epidemiology of Campylobacter jejuni 1/2016 Hanna Help-Rinta-Rahko The Interaction Of Auxin and Cytokinin Signalling Regulates Primary Root Procambial Patterning, Xylem Cell Fate and Differentiation in Arabidopsis thaliana 2/2016 Abbot O. Oghenekaro Molecular Analysis of the Interaction between White Rot Pathogen (*Rigidoporus microporus*) and Rubber Tree (Hevea brasiliensis) 3/2016 Stiina Rasimus-Sahari Effects of Microbial Mitochondriotoxins from Food and Indoor Air on Mammalian Cells 4/2016 Hany S.M. EL Sayed Bashandy Flavonoid Metabolomics in Gerbera hybrida and Elucidation of Complexity in the Flavonoid **Biosynthetic Pathway** 5/2016 Erja Koivunen Home-Grown Grain Legumes in Poultry Diets 6/2016 Paul Mathijssen Holocene Carbon Dynamics and Atmospheric Radiative Forcing of Different Types of Peatlands in Finland 7/2016 Seved Abdollah Mousavi Revised Taxonomy of the Family Rhizobiaceae, and Phylogeny of Mesorhizobia Nodulating Glycyrrhiza spp.

8/2016 Sedeer El-Showk

Auxin and Cytokinin Interactions Regulate Primary Vascular Patterning During Root Development in Arabidopsis thaliana



Helsinki 2016

ISSN 2342-5423

ISBN 978-951-51-2141-7